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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

The overall development of Hong Kong economy 

remained steadily in the first half of 2007. Despite 

accelerated fluctuation in stock market during the 

third and fourth quarter leading to uncertainty 

in the investment market, the property sector in 

general achieved satisfactory performance, with more 

transactions in the second half of the year. Benefiting 

from the decline of interest rate and stable economic 

growth, prices of residential properties experienced 

steady growth. On the other hand, commercial and 

retail properties’ average occupancy rate and rental 

demonstrated significant upsurge. The Group reported satisfactory results, which showed healthy growth of 

business during the year under review.

The recent fluctuation in the local stock market, led to a more cautious investment sentiment. However the 

pressure on low interest rate and severe inflation resulted in negative interest rate. This served to encourage 

investment in the property market, and supported a strong performance of the property market. Given the 

optimistic sentiment towards the prospective property market, the Group’s flagship property Soundwill Plaza, 

situated in a prime commercial and shopping district with heavy traffic flow, the property’s occupancy rate 

and rental income, thus, had recorded remarkable performance. During 

the year, the Group recorded a significant growth in rental through 

renewing certain tenancy agreements. This reflects a strong demand 

for Grade-A commercial and retail premises. Due to the shortage in 

supply for Grade-A commercial properties in the district, further rental 

increment is expected.

The Group continues to enhance its property assembling business. 

Leveraging its expertise and extensive experience in property 

assembling, the Group has successfully acquired certain property 

sites in established districts during the year. The Group has 

disposed of some of the acquired properties during the year under 

review, including redevelopment project at Bowrington Road, 

Causeway Bay, to take profit. For properties of high quality or 

synergy to the Group’s existing investment properties, we will 

reserve such properties for redevelopment, to enrich its rental 

property portfolio.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

During the year, the Group’s China business segment reported 

satisfactory results. The urban infrastructure business has been 

expanded to various cities in China, including Chongqing and Xian. 

The Group planned to further expand this business to other cities in 

China in 2008, such as Zhuhai and Tianjin.

Apart from its active business expansion and effort to maximize return 

for shareholders, the Group is committed to take the responsibility 

of a corporate citizen. During the year under review, the Group was 

awarded the accreditation of “Caring Company”(2007/2008), in 

recognition of its contribution to the community.

The Group recorded steady business development during the year. In 

2008, with the disposal of the Group’s residential projects and the 

gradual increase in rental income, we expect to report satisfactory results continuously. The Group strives to 

pursuing its business in property assembling and expects to enjoy respectable capital appreciation from this 

core business. We believe that the Group’s balanced business portfolio and its prudent investment strategy 

will generate sound return on investment for our shareholders.

Foo Kam Chu, Grace

Chairman

Hong Kong, 15 April 2008
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

FOO Kam Chu, Grace, aged 64, is the founder and Chairman of the Group. Madam Foo has extensive 

experience in property market. She has been engaged in the property business in Hong Kong since early 

1970s, particularly specialised in the acquisition of old buildings for redevelopment into commercial or 

residential buildings. Madam Foo is currently responsible for the Group’s overall development direction 

and strategies. Furthermore, she serves as a standing committee member of Guangzhou Committee of the 

Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and has been elected as an honorary citizen of Guangzhou 

and executive committee member of Guangdong Province (Women) Members Association. She is familiar 

with the political and economic affairs in the PRC.

CHAN Wai Ling, aged 37, is the Executive Director of the Company. She is in charge of the property 

department and is responsible for the property development and leasing of the Group. She graduated 

from the University of Toronto, Canada with a bachelor degree in commerce and also obtained a Master of 

Business Administration Degree from University of Strathclyde, United Kingdom. Before joining the Group 

in September 1998, she had worked in an international property consultant firm and had operated her own 

property investment business for more than five years. She is also the daughter of the Group’s Chairman. 

TSE Chun Kong, Thomas, aged 46, is the Executive Director in charge of the Group’s property investment. 

Mr. Tse graduated from McMaster University, Canada with a bachelor degree in Civil Engineering, and also 

obtained his master degree of Business Administration from the City University of New York, USA. He joined 

the Company in 1997 and has over 20 years experience in the Hong Kong and Mainland property market.

KWAN Chai Ming, aged 42, is the Executive Director and Company Secretary of the Company. He graduated 

from the University of London with an honours bachelor degree in laws. Mr. Kwan is a qualified solicitor 

in Hong Kong and has 20 years working experience in the legal field. Before joining the Group, he had his 

private practice in different areas. Mr. Kwan joined the Group in 2000 as Group Legal Adviser and is in 

charge of the legal and company secretarial department.

LIANG Yanfeng, aged 42, has been a Non-Executive Director and non-executive vice-chairman of the Board 

of the Company since 5 December 2006. Mr. Liang is also an executive director and the managing director 

of COSCO International Holdings Limited and the non-executive director of Sino-Ocean Land Holdings 

Limited. Mr. Liang has a Master’s degree in laws and an Executive Master of Business Administration from 

the Department of Social Science and the School of Economics and Management of Tsinghua University and 

the Senior Economist qualification awarded by the Ministry of Communications of the PRC. He has extensive 

experience in corporate management and capital market operation.

MENG Qinghui, aged 52, has been a Non-Executive Director of the Board of the Company since 22 April 

2003. He is also an Executive Director of COSCO International Holdings Limited, the managing director of 

Finance Division of COSCO (Hong Kong) Group Limited and the non-executive director of Chong Hing Bank 

Limited. Mr. Meng graduated from Central South University and has the PRC accountant qualification. He has 

extensive experience in corporate financial management and accounting and is also familiar with corporate 

financial planning.
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

HENG Kwoo Seng, aged 60, appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 30 

September 2004, is the managing partner of Morison Heng, Certified Public Accountants in Hong Kong. He 

is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and an associate member 

of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has worked with a number of companies 

listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited either in the capacity of company secretary or as an 

independent non-executive director.

KWAN Kai Cheong, aged 58, appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 30 

September 2004, holds a Bachelor of Accountancy (Honours) degree from the University of Singapore and 

is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia. Mr. Kwan is currently the President of 

Morrison & Company Limited which is a business consultancy firm and a non-executive director of China 

Properties Group Limited which is listed on the Stock Exchange. He is also an independent non-executive 

director of several other companies listed on the Stock Exchange including Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited 

and Hutchison Telecommunications International Limited.

HO Suk Yin, aged 56, appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 30 September 

2004, attained her Master of Business Administration Degree from the University of Santa Barbara California, 

U. S. A. in 1990/91. She was awarded the Badge of Honour in 1995 and appointed Justice of the Peace since 

1996. Ms. Ho is the founder of Relybase Consultants Limited which provides management advice, public 

relation, training and coaching services in Hong Kong and some provinces in Mainland China. She is currently 

Council Member of Sir Edward Youde Memorial Fund, Member of the Standing Committee on Language and 

Research, Member of Municipal Services Appeals Board and Member of Witness Protection Review Board and 

Member of the Railway Objections Hearing Panel.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

OPERATIONS REVIEW

Property Assembling Business

During the year, the Group continued to expand its property 

assembling business and achieved fruitful results. The Group 

completed the disposal of its property assembling project 

at Bowrington Road in Causeway Bay in August 2007, and 

recorded a profit of approximately HK$88,199,000 which was 

booked into the accounts in the second half of the year.

The Group’s proper ty assembling projec ts are mainly 

concentrated in densely-populated area in the vibrant districts 

on the Hong Kong Island. These districts were developed years ago, and had numerous old buildings under 

scattered leaseholds. These old properties offer high redevelopment value, with the shortage in land supply 

in the urban area. The Group has a comprehensive and systematic approach of acquisition, enabling it to 

effectively enlarge its property assembling project portfolio. During the year, the Group has commenced the 

acquisition of a number of properties with redevelopment potential. With the Group’s niche in the urban 

redevelopment, it is expected that profit contribution from this business segment will be further enhanced.

Property Leasing

During the year under review, the consumption sentiment in Hong Kong continued to improve. This, together 

with a strong RMB, has attracted more spending from Chinese tourists in Hong Kong which has provided a 

strong driving force to the local consumer market. With a prosperous retail market and an improving property 

sector, the demand for commercial and retail property began to upsurge. In addition, the rental of major 

shopping areas on Hong Kong Island continued to increase in six consecutive quarters. Located in a prime 

location at Causeway Bay, Soundwill Plaza, the Group’s flagship property, thus, generated a satisfactory 

return to the Group during the year.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued)

Property Leasing (Continued)

Soundwill Plaza enjoyed an occupancy rate of 99% during the year. With a superior geographical location 

and a shortage of shop supply in the district, more and more retailers and service providers are seeking office 

to offer retail or customer services. This trend had pushed the rental of Soundwill Plaza further upward. 

The Group’s rental income from Soundwill Plaza rose by 20% to HK$148 million. Upon expiry of certain 

tenancy agreements, the Group has adjusted the portfolio of its tenants, and introduced a number of world-

renowned international brands, resulting in enhanced image and intangible value for Soundwill Plaza.

During the year, approximately 30% of leases of Soundwill Plaza expired. The Group was able to increase 

rental in accordance with the prevailing market rate when renewing the leases. The new leases represented 

an average increase in rental of around 50%, with the highest increment amounted to 111%.

Property Development

The Group has completed the construction of the low-

rise semi-detached and detached luxurious residential 

development in Sai Kung during the year. The joint 

venture project comprises a total of 17 semi-detached 

and detached houses, which features a relaxing living 

environment with a design of simplicity. Since there is 

a strong market demand for large units and detached 

houses, the Group intends to launch this project at an 

opportune moment.

The Group’s another residential development project 

in Yuen Long is currently under architectural design 

and landscape planning. This project, with a site area 

of 140,000 sq.ft., will be developed into a low density 

residential community, with comprehensive facilities and 

a luxurious clubhouse.

Business in Mainland China

During the year, the Group’s business in Mainland China performed satisfactorily, with its urban infrastructure 

development business extended to various cities including Chongqing and Xian. The Group plans to further 

expand this business to other major cities in the Mainland China including Zhuhai and Tianjin in 2008.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued)

Property Management, E & M and Building Maintenance

T h e  G r o u p  h a s  f o u r  p r o p e r t y 

m a n a g e m e n t  a n d  m a i n t e n a n c e 

entities. These entities are engaged 

in property management and facility 

maintenance service for large-scale 

commerc ia l  bu i ld ings ,  smal l  and 

medium-sized residential properties, 

estates and shopping malls. Revenue 

from these four entities during the 

year amounted to approx imate ly 

HK$15,103,0 0 0, represent ing an 

increase of 11% when compared to 

that of last year.

Corporate Citizen

In addit ion to i t s ac t ive bus iness 

d eve l o pm ent  and  g en e ra t i o n  o f 

favorable return to its shareholders, 

the Group i s  a l so commi t ted to 

become an organization upholding its 

social responsibility. During the year, 

the Group actively participated in a 

range of community and fund raising 

activities. The Group also successfully 

assisted Yan Oi Tong for a charity 

bazaar and has planned to implement 

environmental protection policy to 

fulfill the role of a corporate citizen. 

In addition, the Group was awarded 

by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service as “Caring Company”, in recognition of its contribution to the 

community.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

PROSPECTS

The sub-prime crisis in the US emerged in the second half of 2007 had forced interest rate to decline. 

Following the trend in the US, the Hong Kong interest rate had been lowered several times. During the 

first quarter of the year, the Hong Kong economy continued to show healthy growth, despite the turmoil 

in the Hong Kong stock market, as the local economic fundamentals remained sound in 2008. The gradual 

appreciation of RMB has attracted more tourists from China in spending in Hong Kong. This has generated 

favorable impact on Hong Kong’s commercial and retail property markets. Furthermore, some of the investors 

who have cashed in from the stock market in the past year are switching their gains to the property market. 

We anticipate these positive factors will continue to support the development of Hong Kong’s property market 

in 2008.

Looking forward, the Group expects to complete the acquisition of several redevelopment sites, which 

are all on Hong Kong Island. The Group intends to reserve certain projects for redevelopment or as long-

term investment in order to expand the Group’s recurrent income base. The Group is actively expanding its 

property assembling business, and has completed the acquisition of Hang Tang House in Tang Lung Street 

for redevelopment. The Group plans to redevelop Hang Tang House and its adjacent sites into a Ginza-style 

commercial building with a gross floor area of approximate 130,000 sq.ft. Construction of this project is 

expected to be completed in 2010.

Soundwill Plaza, the Group’s flagship property, is located in the prime shopping and commercial area on the 

Hong Kong Island. Soundwill Plaza will continue to provide stable recurrent income to the Group. In 2008, 

approximately 50% of leases of Soundwill Plaza will be expired. It is expected that when renewing the leases, 

the Group’s average rental will be increased by approximately 55%. Together with the continued optimizing 

of its tenants portfolio and adding of international brandnames to its tenant list, the Group will be able to 

enhance the overall value of Soundwill Plaza and to improve its rental income.

With regard to the Group’s business in Mainland China, it will continue to actively participate in the urban 

infrastructure development project in China. The Group is expected to further expand its business in China. 

By participating in the infrastructure development projects in various secondary cities, the Group is able to 

establish solid relations with the local governments and business sectors. These relationships will constitute a 

valuable platform for the Group’s exploration of other business opportunities in China.

Given its fundamental competitive strengths and a healthy financial position, the Group will maintain 

sustainable development of its existing portfolio. Meanwhile, the Group will capitalize on the opportunity 

arising from the property market, to enhance its profitability and cash flow, through redevelopment and the 

sale of acquired projects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
For the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group has achieved a profit attributable to equity holders of the 
Company of approximately HK$1,063,285,000 (2006: HK$422,474,000), an increase of 152% as compared 
with last year. The increase was mainly due to an increase of HK$603,234,000 arising from the net gain on 
fair value adjustment on investment properties (net of deferred tax) as compared with last year. Earnings per 
share was HK$4.76 (2006: HK$1.90), representing an increase of 151% over last year.

If the gain on fair value adjustment on investment properties (net of deferred tax) were to be excluded, the 
Group’s profit for the year would be approximately HK$161,708,000 (2006: HK$124,132,000), representing 
an increase of about 30% as compared with last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group has recorded a turnover of approximately HK$464,673,000, 
representing an increase of about 135% over last year. Included in the turnover of 2007 was a revenue 
of HK$246 million from a new business segment called Property Assembling Business which was dealing 
with property assembly and trading business in Hong Kong. If this new business segment was excluded, 
the increase in turnover was 11% which was mainly due to higher rental income contribution in 2007. The 
Group’s gross profit for the year amounted to approximately HK$288,673,000, representing 76% increase as 
compared with last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD
On 11 August 2007, the Group disposed of its investment properties located at 21 Sharp Street at 

a consideration of HK$74 million. The transaction brings along with a net gain of approximately 

HK$45,400,000.

Save as mentioned above, there is no change in the significant investments held by the Group during the 

year.

DETAILS OF MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
During the year, there was no material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries by the Group.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY
As at 31 December 2007, the Group’s bank and other borrowings and convertible bond amounted to 

HK$1,890,639,000 (2006: HK$1,381,601,000). Cash and bank balances amounted to HK$81,220,000 (2006: 

HK$88,509,000) and net borrowings amounted to HK$1,809,419,000 (2006: HK$1,293,092,000).

The Group’s gearing ratio (which was expressed as a percentage of bank and other borrowings over the 

shareholders’ funds) has been reduced from 53% in 2006 to 51% in 2007.

Interest expenses for the year amounted to HK$88,820,000 (2006: HK$70,912,000) mainly due to increase in 

bank loans which were raised for property acquisitions during the year. The average cost of borrowings over 

the year was 5.43% (2006: 5.75%) which was expressed as a percentage of total interest expenses over the 

average total borrowings.

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk mainly arises from the exchange rate movement between Hong 

Kong Dollar and Renminbi in relation to its PRC operations. The continuous appreciation of Renminbi had a 

positive effect to the Group’s results. Save for the aforesaid, the Group has no significant exposure to foreign 

exchange fluctuation.

During the year, the Group did not engage in any derivative activities or use any financial instruments to 

hedge its balance sheet exposures.

As at 31 December 2007, all the Group’s borrowings were on floating rates basis.

As at 31 December 2007, the Group’s total net assets amounted to approximately HK$3,677,429,000 (2006: 

HK$2,602,542,000), an increase of HK$1,074,887,000 or 41% when compared with last year. With the total 

number of ordinary shares in issue of 223,827,816 (2006: 222,657,816) as at 31 December 2007, the net 

asset value per share was HK$16.43 (2006: HK$11.69).



13

A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
EP

O
R

T 
20

07

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS
As at 31 December 2007, investment properties and properties held for sale of the Group with a total 

carrying value of approximately HK$5,725,517,000 (2006: approximately HK$4,094,468,000, were pledged 

to secure banking facilities for the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2007.

EMPLOYEES REMUNERATION
The Group had 128 employees and 93 employees (2006: 50 employees and 120 employees) in Hong Kong 

and Mainland China respectively as at 31 December 2007. Total salaries and wages incurred during the 

year amounted to approximately HK$42,704,000 (2006: approximately HK$24,357,000). Employees were 

remunerated on the basis of their performance, experience and prevailing market practice. Remuneration 

packages comprise salary, medical insurance, mandatory provident fund and year end discretionary bonus. 

During the year, share options were also granted to various directors and employees on a performance related 

basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company has adopted the code provision set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the 

“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange 

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The board of directors (the “Board”) is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and 

oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance. The management was delegated the 

authority and responsibility by the Board for the management of the Group. In addition, the Board has also 

delegated various responsibilities to the Board Committees. Further details of these committees are set out in 

this report.

Board Composition

The Board comprises (i) four executive directors, namely Madam Foo Kam Chu, Grace (“Mrs. Chan”), Ms. 

Chan Wai Ling (who is the daughter of Mrs. Chan), Mr. Tse Chun Kong, Thomas and Mr. Kwan Chai Ming; (ii) 

two non-executive directors, namely Mr. Liang Yanfeng and Mr. Meng Qinghui; and (iii) three independent 

non-executive directors, namely Mr. Heng Kwoo Seng, Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong and Ms. Ho Suk Yin.

The biographies of the directors are set out in pages 5 to 6, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise, 

experience and qualifications.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from the three independent non-executive 

directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed their independence and 

concluded that all the independent non-executive directors are independent within the definition of the 

Listing Rules.

Board Meetings and Attendance

The Board has four scheduled meetings a year and meets as and when required. During the year ended 31 

December 2007, the Board held four meetings. The attendance of the directors at the board meeting is as 

follows:

Directors’ attendance at board meetings

Directors Attendance

Madam Foo Kam Chu, Grace 4/4

Ms. Chan Wai Ling 4/4

Mr. Tse Chun Kong, Thomas 4/4

Mr. Kwan Chai Ming 4/4

Mr. Liang Yanfeng 4/4

Mr. Meng Qinghui 4/4

Mr. Heng Kwoo Seng 4/4

Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong 4/4

Ms. Ho Suk Yin 4/4
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Madam Foo Kam Chu, Grace is the founder and the Chairman of the Group. She is responsible for the 

Group’s overall development direction and strategies. The Chairman ensures the Board functions effectively 

and discharges its responsibilities. There is no chief executive officer appointed and the daily operations of 

the Group are delegated to other executive directors, the management and various department heads.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS
Non-executive directors are not appointed for a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation in 

accordance with the Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”). All directors, including the executive and non-

executive directors, shall retire from office by rotation and are eligible for re-election at annual general 

meetings.

In accordance with the Bye-laws, not less than one-third of the directors for the time being will retire from 

office by rotation at each annual general meeting, provided that every director shall be subject to retirement 

by rotation at least once every three years. Any director appointed to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or 

as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the following annual general meeting of the 

Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
Every newly appointed director is ensured to have a proper understanding of the operations and business of 

the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing 

Rules, applicable legal requirements and other regulatory requirements and the business and governance 

policies of the Company. The directors are continually updated with legal and regulatory developments, 

business and market changes and the strategic development of the Group to facilitate the discharge of their 

responsibilities.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted a code of conduct (the “Model Code”) regarding securities transactions by 

directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities 

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, and that having 

made specific enquiry of all directors, the Company confirms that all the directors have complied with the 

Model Code.

SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION
In respect of regular board meeting, and so far as practicable in all other cases, an agenda and accompanying 

board papers are sent in full to all directors in a timely manner and at least 3 days before the intended date 

of a board meeting.

All directors are entitled to have access to board papers, minutes and related materials.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
In determining the remuneration level and packages to the directors and senior management, the Company 

took into account the prevailing practices and trends and to reflect on the time commitment, duties and 

responsibilities of the directors and senior management and their contributions to the Company and the 

Group. Long term inducements in the form of share options and performance bonuses were also employed.

The Remuneration Committee of the Board was set up on 12 September 2005 with written terms of 

reference.

Its function is to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all 

remuneration of directors and senior management. It also recommends to the Board on remuneration and 

compensation levels of individual directors and those for members of senior management.

The Remuneration Committee consists of five directors, namely, Ms. Chan Wai Ling, Mr. Kwan Chai Ming, Mr. 

Heng Kwoo Seng, Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong (being chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and Ms. Ho Suk 

Yin.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee convened one meeting with full attendance to review and 

recommend (with the relevant directors where applicable abstained from voting as far as his/her own 

remuneration is concerned so that no director would decide on his/her own remuneration) the remuneration 

level of executive directors.

Director Attendance

Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong 1/1

Ms. Chan Wai Ling 1/1

Mr. Kwan Chai Ming 1/1

Mr. Heng Kwoo Seng 1/1

Ms. Ho Suk Yin 1/1

INTERNAL CONTROL
During the year, the Directors have conducted review of the effectiveness of the internal control system 

covering material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management 

functions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee of the Board comprises of three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. 

Heng Kwoo Seng (being chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong and Ms. Ho Suk Yin. Both 

Mr. Heng Kwoo Seng and Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong are senior professional accountants posses professional 

accountancy qualification.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the 

Group and discussed auditing, internal controls and financial reporting including the interim and final results 

of the Company. It also acts as an important link between the Board and the Company’s auditors in matters 

within the scope of the audit of the Group.

During the year, the Audit Committee met twice with full attendance. The interim results for the six months 

ended 30 June 2007 and the final results for the year ended 31 December 2007 have been reviewed and 

commented by the Audit Committee.

Director Attendance

Mr. Heng Kwoo Seng 2/2

Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong 2/2

Ms. Ho Suk Yin 2/2

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
During the year, the fee incurred for audit and non-audit services for the Group are approximately 

HK$1,657,000 and HK$198,000 respectively.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Group and 

presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects. The 

directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast doubt 

upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with the audited financial statements for the year 

ended 31 December 2007.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries include 

property assembly, property development, property leasing and provision of building management services in 

Hong Kong and urban infrastructure facilities in the Mainland. Other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out 

in note 46 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2007 and the state of the Group’s and the 

Company’s affairs as at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 27 to 106.

The Board recommends a payment of final dividend of HK$0.07 (2006: HK$0.05) per share for the year 

ended 31 December 2007, subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general 

meeting. The final dividend will be payable on or about 8 July 2008 to shareholders whose names appear on 

the register of members on 23 May 2008.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set out in note 17 to the financial 

statements.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
Particulars of the Group’s principal subsidiaries and associates are set out in notes 19 and 20 to the financial 

statements.

BORROWINGS
Particulars of the borrowings of the Group at the balance sheet date are set out in note 31 to the financial 

statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

RESERVES
Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in the Consolidated 

Statement of Changes in Equity on page 32 and in note 35 to the financial statements respectively.

CONVERTIBLE BOND
Particulars of convertible bond are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SHARE OPTIONS
Particulars of the share options granted are set out in note 36 to the financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set 

out on page 108.

PROPERTIES
Particulars of the major properties held by the Group are set out on page 107.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company are listed on page 2. The Directors’ biographical information is set out on 

pages 5 to 6.

Pursuant to Bye-law 86(2) & 87(1), Mr. Heng Kwoo Seng, Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong, Ms. Ho Suk Yin and Mr. 

Kwan Chai Ming, existing directors of the Company, will retire from office by rotation and whilst all of them 

being eligible, Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong, Ms. Ho Suk Yin and Mr. Kwan Chai Ming will offer themselves for re-

election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Non-Executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation in 

accordance with the Bye-laws.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with 

the Company, which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation 

(other than statutory compensation).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES
1. Directors’ Interests in the Company

As at 31 December 2007, the interests of the Directors and chief executive in the shares, underlying 

shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV 

of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which are 

required to be (i) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 

Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions 

which he is taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) entered in the 

register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) notified to the Company 

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 

Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the shares:

Name of Director Capacity Number of Shares

Approximate 

Percentage of 

Shareholding

Foo Kam Chu, Grace Interest of controlled 

corporation

156,783,709 (Note) 70.05

Beneficial owner 96,000 0.04

Tse Chun Kong, Thomas Interest of Spouse 6,000 0.00

Beneficial owner 723 0.00

Note: The 156,783,709 shares are held by Ko Bee Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is held 
by Madam Foo Kam Chu, Grace.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

1. Directors’ Interests in the Company (Continued)

(ii) Long positions in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company — interests 

in share options of the Company (being granted and remained outstanding):

Name Capacity

Number of 

Shares in the 

Option Exercisable Period

Price of

Grant

Subscription 

Price per Share 

(HK$) (HK$)

Foo Kam Chu, Grace Beneficial owner 200,000 06/01/2005 to 05/01/2010 1.00 1.47

200,000 04/01/2006 to 03/01/2011 1.00 2.38

200,000 20/05/2007 to 19/05/2012 1.00 2.52

600,000 18/01/2008 to 21/07/2012 1.00 6.17

Tse Chun Kong, Thomas Beneficial owner 60,000 08/01/2004 to 07/01/2009 1.00 1.50

90,000 06/01/2005 to 05/01/2010 1.00 1.47

90,000 04/01/2006 to 03/01/2011 1.00 2.38

90,000 20/05/2007 to 19/05/2012 1.00 2.52

90,000 18/01/2008 to 21/07/2012 1.00 6.17

Chan Wai Ling Beneficial owner 60,000 08/01/2004 to 07/01/2009 1.00 1.50

90,000 06/01/2005 to 05/01/2010 1.00 1.47

90,000 04/01/2006 to 03/01/2011 1.00 2.38

90,000 20/05/2007 to 19/05/2012 1.00 2.52

2,000,000 18/01/2008 to 21/07/2012 1.00 6.17

Kwan Chai Ming Beneficial owner 150,000 18/01/2008 to 21/07/2012 1.00 6.17

Meng Qinghui Beneficial owner 60,000 08/01/2004 to 07/01/2009 1.00 1.50

90,000 06/01/2005 to 05/01/2010 1.00 1.47

90,000 04/01/2006 to 03/01/2011 1.00 2.38

90,000 20/05/2007 to 19/05/2012 1.00 2.52

90,000 18/01/2008 to 21/07/2012 1.00 6.17

Liang Yanfeng Beneficial owner 90,000 20/05/2007 to 19/05/2012 1.00 2.52

90,000 18/01/2008 to 21/07/2012 1.00 6.17
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

1. Directors’ Interests in the Company (Continued)

(iii) Long positions in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company — interests 

in convertible bonds each of which is convertible into one share at the conversion 

price of HK$1.66:

Name of Director Capacity

Principal Amount of 

Convertible Bonds

Number of 

Underlying Shares

Foo Kam Chu, Grace Interest of Controlled 

Corporation

HK$23,499,490 14,156,319 (Note)

Note: These underlying shares are held by Ko Bee Limited, a company wholly owned by Madam Foo Kam 
Chu, Grace who is deemed, by virtue of the SFO, to be interested in these underlying shares.

2. Directors’ Interests in Associated Corporation

Name of Director

Name of 

Associated 

Corporation Capacity

Number and 

Class of Shares

Percentage of 

Shareholding

Foo Kam Chu, Grace Ko Bee Limited Beneficial owner 1 ordinary share 100

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2007, none of the Directors and chief executive of the 

Company had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the 

Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are 

required to be (i) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of 

Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he is taken or deemed to have taken 

under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to 

section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model 

Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed above and notes 32 and 36 to the financial statements, at no time during the year ended 

31 December 2007, were rights to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company granted to any 

Director or chief executive of the Company or to the spouse or children under 18 years of age of any such 

Director or chief executive as recorded in the register required to be kept under Part XV of the SFO, or were 

any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries a 

party to any arrangement to enable any such persons to acquire any such rights in any other body corporate.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31 December 2007, the persons other than a Director or chief executive of the Company who has 

an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register 

required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

1. Long positions in the Shares

Name of Shareholder Capacity Number of Shares

Approximate 

Percentage of 

Shareholding

Ko Bee Limited Beneficial owner 156,783,709 70.05

2. Long positions in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company — interest in the 

convertible bond of the Company:

Name of Shareholder Capacity

Principal Amount of 

Convertible Bond

Number of 

Underlying 

Shares

Ko Bee Limited Beneficial owner HK$23,499,490 14,156,319

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2007, the Company has not been notified of any interest or short 

position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept 

under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in (i) the paragraph under the heading of “Directors’ Right to Acquire Shares and 

Debentures” above and (ii) paragraphs (a) to (c) under the heading of “Related Party Transactions” in note 41 

to the financial statements, no contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s business to which the 

Company was a party, and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted 

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the year, approximately 3% of the Group’s purchases were attributable to the Group’s largest supplier 

and approximately 6% of the Group’s purchases were attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers.

During the year, approximately 5% of the Group’s turnover were attributable to the Group’s largest customer 

and approximately 18% of the Group’s turnover were attributable to the Group’s five largest customers.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns 

more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has any interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers or 

customers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the year, other than those, the disclosure of which is exempted pursuant to Rule 14A.31 and 

14A.65 of the Listing Rules (details of such connected transactions being also related party transactions are 

mentioned in note 41 to the financial statements), there were no other connected transaction (as defined 

under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) entered into.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 

Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would 

oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, 

it is confirmed that there is sufficient public float of the Company’s shares in the market as at 15 April 2008, 

the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

AUDITORS
Messrs. Grant Thornton, Certified Public Accountants (“GT”) was appointed on 3 April 2003 as auditors of 

the Company.

GT had resigned as auditors of the Company and its subsidiaries with effect from 12 January 2006. CCIF CPA 

Limited was then proposed to be appointed as the new auditors to fill the vacancy following the resignation 

of GT. Due to the concern of certain bank creditor on the frequent change of auditors, GT was therefore re-

appointed as the Company’s auditor in the special general meeting convened on 28 March 2006.

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint GT as auditors of the

Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 19 May 2008 to Friday, 23 May 

2008 (both days inclusive), for the purpose of determination of entitlement to final dividend, during which 

no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all transfer of shares  

accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer form must be lodged with the Company’s branch 

share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, 

Wanchai, Hong Kong by not later than 4:00 p.m. on Friday, 16 May 2008.

By order of the Board

Foo Kam Chu, Grace

Chairman

Hong Kong, 15 April 2008
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the members of Soundwill Holdings Limited 金朝陽集團有限公司
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Soundwill Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 27 to 106, which comprise the 
consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December 2007, and the consolidated income statement, 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these 
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant 
to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit and to report our 
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and 
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the 
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2007 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Grant Thornton
Certified Public Accountants
13th Floor, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark
15 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

15 April 2008
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2007

2007 2006
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 5 464,673 197,464
Cost of sales (176,000) (33,149)

Gross profit 288,673 164,315

Other income 5 5,853 4,238
Administrative expenses (77,349) (56,608)
Other operating expenses (9,544) (5,433)
(Loss)/Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 43 (33) 624
Gain on fair value adjustment on investment properties 15 1,092,820 361,628
Write-down of properties held for sale to net realisable value 26 (4,006) —
Gain on disposal of investment properties 15 62,552 101,300

Profit from operations 1,358,966 570,064

Finance costs 7 (88,820) (70,912)
Share of profits less losses of:
— associates (11) 15
— a jointly-controlled entity (27) (17)

Profit before income tax 8 1,270,108 499,150

Income tax expense 11 (207,170) (76,045)

Profit for the year 1,062,938 423,105

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 12 1,063,285 422,474
Minority interests (347) 631

Profit for the year 1,062,938 423,105

Dividends 13 15,668 11,139

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity 
holders of the Company during the year 14

— Basic HK$4.76 HK$1.90

— Diluted HK$4.46 HK$1.79
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 December 2007

2007 2006
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets
Investment properties 15 5,380,282 4,249,670
Operating lease prepayment 16 11,537 11,551
Property, plant and equipment 17 31,805 31,011
Properties held for development 18 51,147 34,241
Interests in associates 20 100 2,831
Interests in a jointly-controlled entity 21 23,909 18,309
Available-for-sale financial assets 22 11 11
Intangible assets 23 14,083 13,920
Goodwill 24 — —

5,512,874 4,361,544

Current assets
Inventories 25 24,470 25,895
Properties held for sale 26 637,884 42,705
Trade and other receivables 27 78,130 64,634
Deposits paid for acquisition of properties 66,462 32,678
Bank deposit at escrow account 28 15,168 —
Cash and cash equivalents 29 66,052 88,509

888,166 254,421

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 30 86,660 85,161
Current portion of borrowings 31 506,008 952,588
Convertible bond 32 23,355 —
Provision for income tax 10,092 5,824

626,115 1,043,573

Net current assets/(liabilities) 262,051 (789,152)

Total assets less current liabilities 5,774,925 3,572,392

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 31 1,361,276 405,658
Convertible bond 32 — 23,355
Deferred tax liabilities 33 736,220 540,837

2,097,496 969,850

Net assets 3,677,429 2,602,542

EQUITY

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the 
Company

Share capital 34 22,383 22,266
Reserves 35 3,632,994 2,558,027

3,655,377 2,580,293
Minority interests 22,052 22,249

Total equity 3,677,429 2,602,542

 Foo Kam Chu, Grace Chan Wai Ling
 Director Director
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BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 December 2007

2007 2006

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets

Interests in subsidiaries 19 591,449 591,449

Current assets

Other receivables 234 225

Bank balances and cash 21 20

255 245

Current liabilities

Amount due to subsidiaries 19 22,545 11,685

Trade and other payables 457 964

Convertible bond 32 23,355 —

46,357 12,649

Net current liabilities (46,102) (12,404)

Total assets less current liabilities 545,347 579,045

Non-current liabilities

Convertible bond 32 — 23,355

Net assets 545,347 555,690

EQUITY

Share capital 34 22,383 22,266

Reserves 35 522,964 533,424

Total equity 545,347 555,690

 Foo Kam Chu, Grace Chan Wai Ling
 Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2007

2007 2006

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before income tax 1,270,108 499,150

Share of profit less losses of associates 11 (15)

Share of profit less losses of a jointly-controlled entity 27 17

Bank interest income (1,298) (1,529)

Write-back of long outstanding payables (1,696) —

Interest expenses 88,820 70,912

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,333 1,866

Amortisation of operating lease prepayment 14 14

Amortisation of properties held for development 990 796

Amortisation of intangible assets 801 659

Equity-settled share based payment expenses 13,079 252

Provision for obsolete inventories 5,301 3,599

Provision for impairment of trade receivables 144 1,029

Provision for impairment of amounts due from associates 2,742 —

Bad debts written off 7 122

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment — 121

Gain on fair value adjustment on investment properties (1,092,820) (361,628)

Write-down of properties held for sale to net realisable value 4,006 —

Gain on disposal of investment properties (62,552) (101,300)

Loss/(Gain) on disposal of subsidiaries 43 33 (624)

Operating profit before working capital changes 230,050 113,441

Increase in trade and other receivables (13,705) (10,985)

Increase in deposits paid for acquisition of properties (33,784) (32,678)

(Increase)/Decrease in inventories (3,162) 1,309

Increase in properties held for sale (590,385) (42,705)

Increase in bank deposit at escrow account (15,168) —

Increase in trade and other payables 3,211 727

Net cash (used in)/generated from operations (422,943) 29,109

Interest paid (88,820) (70,210)

Income tax paid (7,857) (10,646)

Net cash used in operating activities (519,620) (51,747)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2007

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from investing activities

Additions to property, plant and equipment (1,836) (1,084)

Capital injection from minority shareholder 150 —

(Increase)/Decrease in amounts due from associates (22) 14

Increase in amount due from a jointly-controlled entity (5,627) (13,524)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 715 —

Proceeds from disposal of investment properties 91,000 228,303

Payment to acquire investment properties (75,040) (375,775)

Payment to acquire properties held for development (17,896) (4,034)

Bank interest received 1,298 1,529

Net cash used in investing activities (7,258) (164,571)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayments of bank loans (995,024) (217,359)

Repayments of other loans (60,907) (21,869)

Bank loans raised 1,539,341 462,349

Other loans raised 25,628 14,516

Proceeds from exercise of warrants — 563

Proceeds from exercise of share options 2,871 222

Final dividend paid (11,191) (7,788)

Net cash generated from financing activities 500,718 230,634

(Decrease)/Increase in cash and cash equivalents (26,160) 14,316

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 88,509 72,196

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 3,703 1,997

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 66,052 88,509
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2007

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share
capital

Share
premium

Asset
revaluation

reserve

Other
equity

reserve

Employee
share-
based
equity

reserve
Retained

profits
Exchange

reserve
Special
reserve

Proposed
final

dividend 
Minority 
interests

Total 
equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2007 22,266 256,548 19,101 94 1,705 2,264,521 3,071 1,848 11,139 22,249 2,602,542

Surplus on revaluation of leasehold 
building (note 17) — — 1,928 — — — — — — — 1,928

Deferred tax liabilities arising from 
asset revaluation reserve of 
leasehold building — — (338) — — — — — — — (338)

Currency translation difference — — — — — — 5,450 — — — 5,450

Net income recognised directly in 
equity — — 1,590 — — — 5,450 — — — 7,040

Profit for the year — — — — — 1,063,285 — — — (347) 1,062,938

Total recognised income and 
expense for the year — — 1,590 — — 1,063,285 5,450 — — (347) 1,069,978

Exercise of share options (note 36) 117 3,861 — — (1,107) — — — — — 2,871
Lapse of share options (note 36) — — — — (95) 95 — — — — —
Equity-settled share-based payment 

(note 36) — — — — 13,079 — — — — — 13,079
Underprovision for final dividend 
 for 2006 — — — — — (52) — — 52 — —
Final dividend paid for 2006 
 (note 13(b)) — — — — — — — — (11,191) — (11,191)
Proposed final dividend for 2007 
 (note 13(a)) — — — — — (15,668) — — 15,668 — —
Capital injection from minority 

shareholders — — — — — — — — — 150 150

 At 31 December 2007 22,383 260,409 20,691 94 13,582 3,312,181 8,521 1,848 15,668 22,052 3,677,429

 At 1 January 2006 22,222 255,763 17,210 94 1,589 1,853,094 673 1,848 7,788 17,609 2,177,890

Surplus on revaluation of leasehold 
building (note 17) — — 2,292 — — — — — — — 2,292

Deferred tax liabilities arising from 
asset revaluation reserve of 
leasehold building — — (401) — — — — — — — (401)

Currency translation difference — — — — — — 2,398 — — — 2,398

Net income recognised directly in 
equity — — 1,891 — — — 2,398 — — — 4,289

Profit for the year — — — — — 422,474 — — — 631 423,105

Total recognised income and 
expense for the year — — 1,891 — — 422,474 2,398 — — 631 427,394

Exercise of warrants 29 534 — — — — — — — — 563
Exercise of share options
 (note 36) 15 251 — — (44) — — — — — 222
Lapse of share options (note 36) — — — — (92) 92 — — — — —
Equity-settled share-based payment 

(note 36) — — — — 252 — — — — — 252
Final dividend paid for 2005 (note 

13(b)) — — — — — — — — (7,788) — (7,788)
Proposed final dividend for 2006 

(note 13(a)) — — — — — (11,139) — — 11,139 — —
Capital injection from minority 

shareholders — — — — — — — — — 4,009 4,009

 At 31 December 2006 22,266 256,548 19,101 94 1,705 2,264,521 3,071 1,848 11,139 22,249 2,602,542
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
The Company is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Bermuda. The address of 

the Company’s registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The 

Company’s shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries 

are set out in note 46 to the financial statements.

The Directors consider the Company’s ultimate holding company to be Ko Bee Limited, which is 

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability.

The financial statements on pages 27 to 106 have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong 

Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong 

Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) and Interpretations 

(“Int”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). The financial 

statements also include the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (“Listing Rules”).

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007 were approved for issue by the board 

of directors on 15 April 2008.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs
In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following new standards, amendment 

and interpretations issued by the HKICPA, which are relevant to and effective for the Group’s financial 

period beginning on 1 January 2007.

HKAS 1 (Amendment) Presentation of Financial Statements – Capital Disclosures

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

HK(IFRIC) Int-8 Scope of HKFRS 2

HK(IFRIC) Int-9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

HK(IFRIC) Int-10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

The adoption of these new and amended HKFRSs did not result in significant alterations to the Group’s 

accounting policies. The specific transitional provisions contained in some of these new and amended 

HKFRSs have been considered. The adoption of these new and amended HKFRSs did not result in 

changes to the amounts in these financial statements in the current year or prior periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs (Continued)

HKAS 1 (Amendment) — Capital Disclosures

In accordance with HKAS 1 (Amendment) – Capital Disclosures, the Group now reports on its capital 

management objectives, policies and procedures in each annual financial report. The new disclosures 

that become necessary due to this change in HKAS 1 are set out in note 45.

HKFRS 7 — Financial Instruments: Disclosures

HKFRS 7 — Financial Instruments: Disclosures is mandatory for reporting periods beginning on 1 

January 2007 or later. The new standard replaces and amends the disclosure requirements previously 

set out in HKAS 32 — Financial Instruments: Presentation and Disclosures and has been adopted 

by the Group in its consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007. All 

disclosures relating to financial instruments including all comparative information have been updated 

to reflect the new requirements. In particular, the Group’s financial statements now feature:

• a sensitivity analysis, to explain the Group’s market risk exposure in regards to its financial 

instruments, and

• a maturity analysis that shows the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities,

each as at the balance sheet date. The first-time application of HKFRS 7, however, has not resulted in 

any prior-period adjustments of cash-flows, net income or balance sheet line items.

New and amended HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early adopted the following HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective. 

The directors of the Company are currently assessing the impact of these HKFRSs but are not yet 

in a position to state whether they would have material financial impact on the Group’s financial 

statements.

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements 1

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs 1

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 5

HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Share-based Payment — Vesting Conditions and Cancellation 1

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations 5

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments 1

HK(IFRIC) Int-11 HKFRS 2: Group and Treasury Share Transactions 2

HK(IFRIC) Int-12 Service Concession Arrangements 3

HK(IFRIC) Int-13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 4

HK(IFRIC) Int-14 HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding

  Requirements and their Interaction 3

Notes
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2007
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Basis of preparation

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these consolidated 

financial statements are summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied to all 

the years presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention except for 

the revaluation of investment properties, leasehold building and certain financial assets and 

liabilities. The measurement bases are fully described in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are used in preparation of the 

financial statements. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge 

and judgement of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those 

estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 

assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 4.

3.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 

its subsidiaries made up to 31 December each year.

3.3 Subsidiaries and minority interests

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the power to control the financial and 

operating policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities. The existence and effect of 

potential voting rights that are currently exercisable are considered when assessing whether 

the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 

control is transferred to the Group. They are excluded from consolidation from the date that 

control ceases.

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. This involves the 

revaluation at fair value of all identifiable assets and liabilities, including contingent liabilities of 

the subsidiary, at the acquisition date, regardless of whether or not they were recorded in the 

financial statements of the subsidiary prior to acquisition. On initial recognition, the assets and 

liabilities of the subsidiary are included in the consolidated balance sheet at their fair values, 

which are also used as the bases for subsequent measurement in accordance with the Group 

accounting policies.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group 

companies are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses 

are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 

transferred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.3 Subsidiaries and minority interests (Continued)

In the Company’s balance sheet, subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment loss unless the 

subsidiary is held for sale or included in a disposal group. The results of the subsidiaries are 

accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable at the balance 

sheet date.

Minority interest represents the portion of the profit or loss and net assets of a subsidiary 

attributable to equity interest that are not owned by the Group and are not the Group’s 

financial liabilities.

Minority interests are presented in the consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately 

from the equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company. Profit or loss attributable 

to the minority interests are presented separately in the consolidated income statement as an 

allocation of the Group’s results. Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the minority 

interests in the subsidiary’s equity, the excess and further losses applicable to the minority are 

allocated against the minority interests to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation 

and is able to make an additional investment to cover the losses. Otherwise, the losses are 

charged against the Group’s interests. If the subsidiary subsequently reports profits, such 

profits are allocated to the minority interests only after the minority’s share of losses previously 

absorbed by the Group has been recovered.

3.4 Associates/Jointly-controlled entity

Associates are those entities over which the Group is able to exert significant influence, 

generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% to 50% of voting rights but which 

are neither subsidiaries nor investment in a joint venture. In consolidated financial statements, 

investments in associates is initially recognised at cost and subsequently accounted for using the 

equity method.

A jointly-controlled entity is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake 

an economic activity that is subject to joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed 

sharing of control over an economic activity, and exist only when the strategic financial and 

operating decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the venturers.

Under the equity method, the Group’s interests in the associate or jointly-controlled entity 

is carried at cost and adjusted for the post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the 

associate’s or jointly-controlled entity’s net assets less any identified impairment loss, unless 

it is classified as held for sale or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale. 

The consolidated income statement includes the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax 

results of the associate or jointly-controlled entity for the year, including any impairment loss on 

goodwill relating to the investment in associate or jointly-controlled entity recognised for the 

year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Associates/Jointly-controlled entity (Continued)

When the Group’s share of losses in the associate or jointly-controlled entity equals or exceeds 

its interest in the associate or jointly-controlled entity, the Group does not recognise further 

losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payment on behalf of the 

associate or jointly-controlled entity.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the 

identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate and jointly-controlled 

entity recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The cost of acquisition is 

measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities 

incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the Group, plus any costs directly 

attributable to the investment.

The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for 

impairment as part of the investment. After the application of equity method, the Group 

determined whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss on the Group’s 

investment in its associates and jointly-controlled entity. At each balance sheet date, the Group 

determines whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in associate and jointly-

controlled entity is impaired. If such indications are identified, the Group calculates the amount 

of impairment as being the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or 

jointly-controlled entity and their respective carrying amount.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates or jointly-controlled 

entity are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates or jointly-controlled 

entity. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 

impairment of the asset transferred.

In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in associates or jointly-controlled entity are 

stated at cost less any impairment losses (or at fair values). The results of associates or jointly-

controlled entity are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and 

receivable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollars (HK$), which is also 

the functional currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions 

are translated into the functional currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the 

balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 

transactions and from the balance sheet date retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are 

recognised in the income statement.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 

retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined and are 

reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms 

of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial statements of subsidiaries 

originally presented in a currency different from the Group’s presentation currency, have been 

converted into Hong Kong dollars. Assets and liabilities have been translated into Hong Kong 

dollars at the closing rate at the balance sheet date. Income and expenses have been converted 

into the Hong Kong dollars at the average rates over the reporting period. Any differences 

arising from this procedure have been dealt with separately in the exchange reserve in equity. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation on or 

after 1 January 2005 have been treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and 

translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing rates. Goodwill arising on the acquisitions of 

foreign operations before 1 January 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange rate that applied 

at the date of acquisition of the foreign operation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.6 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 

and when the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably and on the following 

bases:

Sales of properties is recognised when all of the following criteria are met:

• the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the properties are transferred to buyers;

• neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 

ownership nor effective control over the properties are retained;

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the 

Group; and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured 

reliably.

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in the income statement in equal 

instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease terms. Lease incentives granted 

are recognised in the income statement as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments 

receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they 

are earned.

Income from management services, property repair and maintenance services are recognised in 

the period when the respective services are rendered.

Revenue from urban infras truc ture projec t s , such as the construc t ion works for 

telecommunication pipelines, are recognised when the construction works are fully completed 

and sold to customers. Completion is determined based on certification by independent third 

party quantity surveyors.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.

3.7 Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.

3.8 Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business combination over the fair value of 

the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary and associate at the 

date of acquisition. Goodwill of subsidiaries is tested annually for impairment and carried at 

cost less accumulated impairment losses. Any excess of the Group’s interest in fair value of the 

acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of a business 

combination is recognised immediately in income statement. Gains and losses on the disposal of 

an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.



40

SO
U

N
D

W
IL

L 
H

O
LD

IN
G

S 
LI

M
IT

ED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.9 Intangible assets

Intangible assets representing urban infrastructure development rights are stated at cost less 

accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure on intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future 

economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is 

expensed as incurred.

Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the estimated 

useful lives of 20 years for the intangible assets. Intangible assets are amortised from the date 

the asset is available for use.

3.10 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold building is recognised at fair value, based on their use at the date of revaluation 

less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Fair value is determined 

in appraisals by external professional valuers. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of 

revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount 

is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. All other property, plant and equipment are 

stated at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Any revaluation surplus arising upon appraisal of leasehold building is credited to the “Asset 

revaluation reserve” in equity, unless the carrying amount of that asset has previously suffered 

a revaluation decrease or impairment loss as described in note 3.14. To the extent that any 

decrease has previously been recognised in income statement, a revaluation increase is credited 

to income statement with the remaining part of the increase charged to equity. Downward 

revaluations are recognised upon appraisal or impairment testing, with the decrease being 

charged against any revaluation surplus in equity relating to this asset and any remaining 

decrease recognised in income statement.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal is determined as the difference between the sales 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the income statement. Any 

revaluation surplus remaining in equity on the disposal of buildings is transferred to retained 

earnings.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 

as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 

will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs, such 

as repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the period in which 

they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.10 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost or revalued amounts of property, plant and 

equipment over their estimated useful lives, using the straight line method, at the following 

rates per annum:

Leasehold building 2%

Leasehold improvements 30%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% — 20%

Motor vehicles 6% — 15%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 

balance sheet date.

3.11 Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned or held under a leasehold 

interest to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating lease to earn rental income and/

or for capital appreciation, the interest is classified and accounted for as an investment property 

on a property-by-property basis. Any such property interest which has been classified as an 

investment property is accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease.

On initial recognition, investment property is measured at cost, including any directly 

attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at fair 

value. Fair value is determined by external professional valuers, with sufficient experience with 

respect to both the location and the nature of the investment property. The carrying amounts 

recognised in the balance sheet reflect the prevailing market conditions at the balance sheet 

date.

Any gain or loss resulting from either a change in the fair value or the sale of an investment 

property is immediately recognised in the income statement.

When there is change in use from investment properties to properties held for sale, investment 

properties are transferred at its fair value as the deemed cost of properties held for sale.

3.12 Properties held for or under development

Properties held for or under development representing operating lease prepayment on leasehold 

land and any directly attributable expenditure, with the intention for holding for long-term 

purposes or no decision has yet been made on their future use are included in the balance 

sheet as non-current assets and stated at cost, less accumulated amortisation and impairment 

losses. The amortisation policy is disclosed in note 3.15 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.13 Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes 

land cost, development cost and other direct costs attributable to the properties concerned 

until they reach a marketable state. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in 

the ordinary course of business less all estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 

necessary to make the sale.

3.14 Impairment of assets

The Group’s goodwill, intangible assets, operating lease prepayment, property, plant and 

equipment, properties held for development, investments in associates and investment in a 

jointly-controlled entity are subject to impairment testing.

Goodwill with an indefinite useful life is tested for impairment at least annually, irrespective of 

whether there is any indication that they are impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment 

whenever there are indications that the asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 

there are separately identifiable cash flows (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result, some 

assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. 

Goodwill in particular is allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit 

from synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within the 

Group at which management controls the related cash flows.

Impairment loss recognised for cash-generating units, to which goodwill has been allocated 

are credited initially to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is 

charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit, except that the carrying value 

of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less cost to sell, or value in use, if 

determinable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the amount by which the 

asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount unless the relevant asset is carried at 

a revalued amount under the Group’s accounting policy, in which case the impairment loss 

is treated as a revaluation decrease according to that policy. The recoverable amount is the 

higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell, and value in use. In assessing 

value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-

tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time value of money and the risk 

specific to the asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Impairment of assets (Continued)

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods whilst an impairment 

loss on other assets is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used 

to determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 

amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 

depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

3.15 Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease if 

the Group determines that arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an 

agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination is 

made based on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether 

the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group 

are classified as operating leases. Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating 

leases, payment made under the leases are charged to the income statement on a straight line 

basis over the lease terms.

3.16 Financial assets

Financial assets other than hedging instruments are classified into the following categories: 

loans and receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale 

financial assets and held-to-maturity investments.

Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition 

depending on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired and where allowed and 

appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date.

All financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are 

measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, 

directly attributable transaction costs.

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from the 

investments expire or are transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 

have been transferred. At each balance sheet date, financial assets are reviewed to assess 

whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If any of such evidence exists, impairment 

loss is determined and recognised based on the classification of the financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.16 Financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets include non-derivative financial assets that are either 

designated to this category or do not qualify for inclusion in any of the other categories of 

financial assets. All financial assets within this category are subsequently measured at fair value. 

Gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value is recognised directly in equity, except for 

impairment losses, until the financial asset is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain 

or loss previously recognised in equity would be recognised in the income statement.

For available-for-sale investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted market price 

in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that 

are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, they are 

measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at each balance sheet date subsequent 

to initial recognition.

Receivables

Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market. Receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method, less any impairment losses. Amortised cost is calculated taking into 

account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of 

the effective interest rate and transaction cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the income 

statement when the receivables are decognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation 

process.

Impairment of financial assets

At each balance sheet date, financial assets are reviewed to determine whether there is any 

objective evidence of impairment. If any such evidence exists, the impairment loss is measured 

and recognised as follows:

(i) Available-for-sale financial assets

When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been 

recognised directly in equity and there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, an 

amount is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement as impairment 

loss. That amount is measured as the difference between the asset’s acquisition cost (net 

of any principal repayment and amortisation) and current fair value, less any impairment 

loss on that asset previously recognised in the income statement.

Reversals in respect of investment in equity instruments classified as available-for-sale 

are not recognised in the income statement. The subsequent increase in fair value is 

recognised directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.16 Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Receivables

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on receivables carried at amortised 

cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between 

the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 

(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial 

asset’s original effective interest rate. The amount of the loss is recognised in the income 

statement of the period in which the impairment occurs.

If, in subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 

can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 

previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that it does not result in 

a carrying amount of the financial asset exceeding what the amortised cost would have 

been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. 

The amount of the reversal is recognised in the income statement of the period in which 

the reversal occurs.

(iii) Financial assets carried at cost

The amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying 

amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows 

discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such 

impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods.

3.17 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct 

materials computed using the weighted average method and where applicable, direct labour 

and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 

location and condition. Net realisable value is calculated as the actual or estimated selling price 

less all further costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

3.18 Income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, tax 

authorities relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the balance sheet 

date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the periods to 

which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or 

liabilities are recognised as a component of income tax expense in the income statement.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance 

sheet date between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements 

and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 

temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary 

differences, tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other unused tax credits, to 

the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 

temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.18 Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from 

goodwill. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on 

investment in subsidiaries, associates and jointly-controlled entity, except where the Group is 

able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary 

differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply in the 

period the liability is settled or the asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively 

enacted at the foreseeable future.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in the income statement, or in equity 

if they relate to items that are charged or credited directly to equity.

3.19 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks and 

short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are 

readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 

changes in value, and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

3.20 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is determined using the nominal value of 

shares that have been issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares are deducted from the share 

premium (net of any related income tax benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs directly 

attributable to the equity transaction.

3.21 Retirement benefit costs and short term employee benefits

Defined contribution plan

The Group contributes to the defined contribution retirement schemes which are available to  

employees in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China, except Hong Kong (the “PRC”). 

Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of 

employees’ relevant income or basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to the 

income statement represents contributions payable by the Group to the schemes.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions 

into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay any further 

contributions after payment of the fixed contribution.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.21 Retirement benefit costs and short term employee benefits (Continued)

Defined contribution plan (Continued)

The contributions recognised in respect to defined contribution plans are expensed as they 

fall due. Liabilities and assets may be recognised if underpayment or prepayment has occurred 

and are included in current liabilities or current assets as they are normally of a short term 

nature. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in independently 

administered funds.

Share-based employee compensation

All share-based payment arrangements granted after 7 November 2002 and that have not yet 

vested at 1 January 2005 are recognised in the financial statements. The Group operates equity-

settled share-based compensation plans to remunerate certain of its directors and employees.

All employee services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based compensation are 

measured at their fair values. These are indirectly determined by reference to the share options 

awarded. Their value is appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of any non-market 

vesting conditions.

All share-based compensation is ultimately recognised as an expense in the income statement 

with a corresponding credit to equity, net of deferred tax where applicable. If vesting periods 

or other vesting conditions apply, the expense is allocated over the vesting period, based 

on the best available estimate of the number of share options expected to vest. Non-market 

vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected 

to become exercisable. Estimates are subsequently revised, if there is any indication that the 

number of share options expected to vest differs from previous estimates. No adjustment to 

expense recognised in prior periods is made if fewer share options ultimately are exercised than 

originally vested.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable 

transaction costs up to the nominal value of the share issued are reallocated to share capital 

with any excess being recorded as share premium. When the share options are forfeited or are 

still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve 

will be transferred to retained profits.

3.22 Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include bank and other loans, trade and other payables and 

convertible bonds. They are included in balance sheet line items as borrowings under current or 

non-current liabilities, trade and other payables and convertible bonds.

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 

of the instrument. All interest related charges are recognised as an expense in finance costs in 

the income statement.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.22 Financial liabilities (Continued)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 

cancelled or expires.

Borrowings

Borrowings are raised to provide long term funding for the Group’s operations. They are 

recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 

stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and 

the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings 

using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to 

defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Convertible bond

Convertible bond that can be converted to equity share capital at the option of the holder, 

where the number of shares that would be issued on conversion and the value of consideration 

that would be received at that time do not vary, are accounted for as compound financial 

instruments which contain both a liability component and an equity component.

Convertible bond issued by the Company that contain both financial liability and equity 

components are classified separately into respective liability and equity components on initial 

recognition. On that initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component is determined 

using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible debts. The difference 

between the proceeds of the issue of the convertible bond and the fair value assigned to the 

liability component, representing the call option for conversion of the bond into equity, is 

included in equity as other equity reserve.

The liability component is subsequently carried at amortised cost using effective interest rate 

method. The equity component will remain in equity until conversion or redemption of bond.

When the bond is converted, the other equity reserve and the carrying value of the liability 

component at the time of conversion, is transferred to share capital and share premium as 

consideration for the shares issued. If the bond is redeemed, the other equity reserve is released 

directly to retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.22 Financial liabilities (Continued)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured 

at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

3.23 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 

result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required 

to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money 

is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the 

obligation. All provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the 

current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount 

cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as contingent liability, unless the 

probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence 

will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one of more future events are 

also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is 

remote.

3.24 Financial guarantee contract

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer (or guarantor) to make 

specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtors fails 

to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the guarantee is initially 

recognised as deferred income within trade and other payables. Where consideration is received 

or receivable for the issuance of guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance 

with the Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset. Where no such consideration 

is received or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised as investment in subsidiaries on 

initial recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred income is amortised in the 

income statement over the term of the guarantee as income from financial guarantee issued. 

In addition, provisions are recognised if and when it becomes probable that the holder of the 

guarantee will call upon the Group under the guarantee and the amount of that claim on the 

Group is expected to exceed the current carrying amount, where appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.25 Related parties

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if:

(i)  directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party:

— controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Group;

— has an interest in the Group that gives it significant influence over the Group;

— has joint control over the Group;

(ii)  the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(iii) the party is an associate;

(iv)  the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or its parent;

(v) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or (iv);

(vi) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly-controlled or significantly influenced by or 

for which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any 

individual referred to in (iv) or (v); or

(vii) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Group, 

or of any entity that is a related party of the Group.

3.26 Segment reporting

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting, the Group has determined that 

business segments be presented as the primary reporting format and geographical segments as 

the secondary reporting format.

Unallocated costs represent corporate expenses. Segment assets consist primarily of intangible 

assets, property, plant and equipment, investment properties, inventories, receivables and 

operating cash, and mainly exclude other investments. Segment liabilities comprise operating 

liabilities and exclude borrowings and convertible bond.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to intangible assets and fixed assets, including 

additions resulting from acquisitions through purchases of subsidiaries.

In respect of geographical segment reporting, sales are based on the country in which the 

customer is located and total assets and capital expenditure are where the assets are located.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experiences and 

other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates 

will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a 

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 

the next financial year are discussed below.

(i) Fair value of investment properties and leasehold building

As at balance sheet date, the Group’s main investment properties and leasehold building, 

Soundwill Plaza, are stated at fair value based on the valuation performed by an independent 

qualified professional valuer. In determining the fair value, the valuers have used the market 

value on an existing use basis which involves certain estimates, including comparable market 

transactions, appropriate capitalisation rates and reversionary income potential. Certain 

investment properties adjacent to each other, which also adopted the aforesaid method in last 

year, were revalued on redevelopment basis by adopting the residual site method this year, The 

residual site method is determined by deducting the gross development value of the proposed 

development from the estimated total cost of the development including costs of construction, 

professional fee, finance cost, associated costs, and an allowance for developer’s risk and profit. 

In relying on this valuation, management has exercised their judgement and are satisfied that 

the method of valuation is reflective of the current market conditions.

(ii) Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 

business, less estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based 

on the current market condition and the historical experience of selling products of similar 

nature. It could change significantly as a result of competitor actions in response to severe 

industry cycles. Management reassesses these estimations at the balance sheet date to ensure 

inventories are shown at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

(iii) Impairment of trade receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for impairment of trade receivables on a 

regular basis. This estimate is based on the credit history of its customers and prevailing market 

conditions. Management reassesses the provision for impairment of trade receivables at the 

balance sheet date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007

5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income is as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover represents:

Sales of properties 230,000 —

Property rental income 141,176 115,917

Revenue from urban infrastructure construction works 53,594 47,725

Building management service income 5,470 4,991

Property repairs and maintenance service income 9,633 8,637

Mortgage interest income 7 54

Signage rental 19,606 15,817

Office facilities and service income 5,187 4,323

464,673 197,464

Other income:

Bank interest income 1,298 1,529

Miscellaneous income 2,859 2,709

Write-back of long outstanding payables 1,696 —

5,853 4,238

Total revenue and other income 470,526 201,702
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For the year ended 31 December 2007

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Primary reporting format — business segments

The Group is organised into five main business segments:

Property assembling business : Property assembly and trading

Property development : Property development and sale of properties

Property leasing : Property rental including signage rental

Building management and other services : Provision of property management, repairs and 

maintenance services

Urban infrastructure : Urban infrastructure development

Secondary reporting format — geographical segments

The Group’s five business segments operate in the following geographic areas:

Hong Kong — Property assembly and trading, property development and sales of properties, 

property rental and provision of property management, repairs and 

maintenance services

Mainland China — Urban infrastructure development and property development

There are no sales between the geographical segments.

The Group’s inter-segment transactions were related to rental and management fee charges. 

Management fee charges were determined by directors.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(i) Primary reporting format — business segments

The following table presents revenue and results information for the year ended 31 December 

2007 and certain assets and liabilities information as at 31 December 2007 for the Group’s 

business segments:

Property assembling

business

Property

development Property leasing

Building management

and other services Urban infrastructure Others Elimination Total

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue

External customers 246,428 — — — 149,541 136,057 15,103 13,628 53,594 47,725 7 54 — — 464,673 197,464

Inter-segments — — — — 5,284 4,638 240 — — — — — (5,524) (4,638) — —

246,428 — — — 154,825 140,695 15,343 13,628 53,594 47,725 7 54 (5,524) (4,638) 464,673 197,464

Segment results 93,500 — (1,109) (885) 141,554 129,492 7,081 6,805 5,533 998 (2,489) (1,033) — — 244,070 135,377

Inter-segments 637 — — — (2,064) (1,462) 163 403 — — 1,264 1,059 — — — —

Contribution from operations 94,137 — (1,109) (885) 139,490 128,030 7,244 7,208 5,533 998 (1,225) 26 — — 244,070 135,377

Gain on fair value adjustment on 

investment properties 9,100 — —  — 1,083,720 361,628 — — — — — — — — 1,092,820 361,628

Write-down of properties held 

for sale to net realisable 

value (4,006) — — — — — — — — — — — — — (4,006) —

Gain on disposal of investment 

properties — — — — 62,552 101,300 — — — — — — — — 62,552 101,300

99,231 — (1,109) (885) 1,285,762 590,958 7,244 7,208 5,533 998 (1,225) 26 — — 1,395,436 598,305

Unallocated income and 

expenses (36,437) (28,865)

(Loss)/Gain on disposal of 

subsidiaries (33) 624

Profit from operations 1,358,966 570,064

Finance costs (88,820) (70,912)

Share of profits less losses of 

associates (11) 15

Share of profits less losses of a 

jointly-controlled entity (27) (17)

Profit before income tax 1,270,108 499,150

Income tax expense (207,170) (76,045)

Profit for the year 1,062,938 423,105
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Property assembling

business

Property

development Property leasing

Building management

and other services Urban infrastructure Others Elimination Total

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit attributable to equity 

holders of the Company 1,063,285 422,474

Minority interests (347) 631

Profit for the year 1,062,938 423,105

Segment assets 809,499 — 59,793 34,247 5,358,123 4,422,525 3,955 3,486 142,570 129,981 3,091 4,586 — — 6,377,031 4,594,825

Interests in associates 100 2,831

Interests in a jointly-controlled 

entity 23,909 18,309

Total assets 6,401,040 4,615,965

Segment liabilities 28,069 — 19 42 771,910 591,648 8,359 8.061 16,371 21,846 8,244 33,580 — — 832,972 655,177

Unallocated liabilities 1,890,639 1,358,246

Total liabilities 2,723,611 2,013,423

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(i) Primary reporting format — business segments (Continued)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(i) Primary reporting format — business segments (Continued)

Other segment information extracted from the income statement and balance sheet.

Property assembling 

business Property development Property leasing

Building management 

and other services Urban infrastructure Others Total

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital expenditure 63 — 17,894 4,034 75,443 420,659 2 — 745 4,298 625 76 94,772 429,067

Depreciation 12 — — 2 1,383 1,067 4 3 517 467 417 327 2,333 1,866

Amortisation of

intangible assets — — — — — — — — 801 659 — — 801 659

Provision for 

impairment of 

trade receivables — — — — — 44 144 644 — 329 — 12 144 1,029

(ii) Secondary reporting format — geographical segments

The following table shows the distribution of the Group’s consolidated revenue by geographical 

markets:

Segment revenue

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 411,079 149,739

PRC 53,594 47,725

464,673 197,464
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For the year ended 31 December 2007

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(ii) Secondary reporting format — geographical segments (Continued)

The following tables show the carrying amount of segment assets and additions to investment 

properties, property, plant and equipment, properties held for development and intangible 

assets by geographical area in which the assets are located:

Carrying amount 

of segment assets

Additions to investment 

properties, property, plant and 

equipment, properties held for 

development and 

intangible assets

2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 6,218,198 4,464,844 77,601 424,769

PRC 158,833 129,981 17,171 4,298

6,377,031 4,594,825 94,772 429,067

7. FINANCE COSTS

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest charges on:

Bank loans

— wholly repayable within five years 68,937 45,682

— not wholly repayable within five years 17,294 17,867

Other borrowings wholly repayable within five years 1,511 6,211

Convertible bond (note 32) 1,078 1,152

88,820 70,912
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8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging:

Amortisation of intangible assets * 801 659

Auditors’ remuneration 1,657 1,383

Amortisation of:

— operating lease prepayment 14 14

— properties held for development 990 796

Depreciation 2,333 1,866

Cost of inventories recognised as expense 27,452 27,486

Cost of properties held for sale recognised as expense 136,657 —

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment — 121

Operating lease charges in respect of premises 2,362 2,117

Provision for obsolete inventories * 5,301 3,599

Provision for impairment of trade receivables * 144 1,029

Provision for impairment of amounts due from associates * 2,742 —

Bad debts written off * 7 122

Deposits for property acquisition written off * 543 —

Staff costs (note 10) 42,704 24,357

and crediting:

Gross rental income from investment properties 141,176 115,917

Less: Outgoings (2,874) (1,720)

138,302 114,197

Other rental income less outgoings from other properties 5,007 4,295

143,309 118,492

* included in other operating expenses
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors were as follows:

Fee
Salaries and

allowances

Retirement
benefits
scheme

contributions

Equity-
settled

share based
payment
expenses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2007

Executive directors
Ms. Foo Kam Chu, Grace — 2,430 12 1,400 3,842
Ms. Chan Wai Ling — 1,290 12 4,277 5,579
Mr. Tse Chun Kong, Thomas — 1,631 12 250 1,893
Mr. Kwan Chai Ming — 818 12 370 1,200

Non-executive directors
Mr. Liang Yanfeng — — — 267 267
Mr. Meng Qinghui — — — 267 267

Independent non-executive 
directors

Mr. Heng Kwoo Seng 80 — — — 80
Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong 70 — — — 70
Ms. Ho Suk Yin 60 — — — 60

210 6,169 48 6,831 13,258

Year ended 31 December 2006

Executive directors
Ms. Foo Kam Chu, Grace — 1,730 12 43 1,785
Ms. Chan Wai Ling — 1,120 12 19 1,151
Mr. Tse Chun Kong, Thomas — 1,631 12 19 1,662
Mr. Kwan Chai Ming — 734 12 17 763

Non-executive directors
Mr. Liu Hanbo * — — — 2 2
Mr. Liang Yanfeng ** — — — — —
Mr. Meng Qinghui — — — 9 9

Independent non-executive 
directors

Mr. Heng Kwoo Seng 80 — — — 80
Mr. Kwan Kai Cheong 70 — — — 70
Ms. Ho Suk Yin 60 — — — 60

210 5,215 48 109 5,582

* resigned on 5 December 2006

** appointed on 5 December 2006
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS 
(Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year included 

three (2006: three) directors of the Company, whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis 

presented above. The emoluments paid to the remaining two (2006: two) individuals during the 

year are as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Basic salaries and other benefits 2,736 2,483

Pension costs — defined contribution plan 24 24

Equity-settled share-based payment 4,970 28

7,730 2,535

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

 Number of individuals

2007 2006

Nil — HK$1,000,000 — —

HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 — 2

HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 — —

HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 — —

HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 1 —

HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 — —

HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 — —

HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 — —

HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 — —

HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000 1 —

During the year ended 31 December 2007, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the 

directors or any of five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the 

Group or as compensation for loss of office and no director waived or agreed to waive any 

emoluments during the two years ended 31 December 2007 and 2006.
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10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and wages (including directors’ remuneration) 27,935 22,935

Equity-settled share-based payment 13,079 252

Pension costs — defined contribution plans 1,202 966

Staff welfare 488 204

42,704 24,357

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong profits tax

Tax for the year 12,073 5,356

(Over-)/Under-provision in prior years (56) 3,734

12,017 9,090

PRC tax

Tax for the year 108 301

12,125 9,391

Deferred tax charge (note 33) 195,045 66,654

207,170 76,045

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5% (2006: 17.5%) on the estimated 

assessable profit arising in Hong Kong for the year.

The Group’s subsidiaries established and operating in the Mainland China are exempt from enterprise 

income tax for the first two profitable years of operations, and thereafter, are eligible for a 50% 

relief from enterprise income tax for the following three years. The tax rates applicable to certain PRC 

subsidiaries after the 50% relief ranged from 7.5% to 12% (2006: 7.5% to 12%). Pursuant to the 

PRC enterprise income tax law passed by the Tenth National People’s Congress on 16 March 2007, 

the new enterprise income tax rates for domestic and foreign enterprises are unified at 25% and will 

be effective from 1 January 2008. According to the implementation rules dated 26 December 2007 

issued by State Council, the foreign enterprises are entitled to tax holidays under the old regime, if 

the enterprises obtained their business licenses before 16 March 2007. In this connection, the above 

mentioned tax holiday will continue to be applicable to the Group's PRC subsidiaries.
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rates is as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before income tax 1,270,108 499,150

Tax at the applicable tax rates 223,139 87,505

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 3,883 2,175

Tax effect of non-taxable income (11,683) (172)

Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised 40 38

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 4,566 2,494

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (13,229) (19,832)

(Over-)/Under-provision in prior years (56) 3,734

Others 510 103

Income tax expense 207,170 76,045

12. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
Of the consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the Company of HK$1,063,285,000 (2006: 

profit of HK$422,474,000), a loss of HK$15,102,000 (2006: loss of HK$2,944,000) has been dealt 

with in the financial statements of the Company.

13. DIVIDENDS
(a) Dividend attributable to the year

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Proposed final dividend of HK$0.07 (2006: HK$0.05) per 

share 15,668 11,139

Final dividend of HK$0.07 (2006: HK$0.05) per share for the year to shareholders whose names 

appear on the register of members on 23 May 2008 (the “Record Date”) was proposed by the 

Directors on 15 April 2008.

The final dividend proposed after the balance sheet date has not been recognised as a liability 

at the balance sheet date.
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13. DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(b) Dividend attributable to the previous financial year, approved and paid during the 

year

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Final dividend in respect of the previous financial year, of 

HK$0.05 per share (2006: HK$0.035 per share) 11,191 7,788

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

Earnings

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 1,063,285 422,474

Effect of reduction of interest payable arising from convertible 

bond 1,078 1,152

Profit used to determine diluted earnings per share 1,064,363 423,626

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes 

of basic earnings per share 223,426,475 222,520,080

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares in respect of:

 Share options 869,886 258,324

 Share warrants — 85,013

 Convertible bond 14,156,320 14,156,320

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes 

of diluted earnings per share 238,452,681 237,019,737
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Changes to the carrying amounts presented in the consolidated balance sheet can be summarised as 

follows:

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 4,249,670 3,654,270

Additions 75,040 375,775

Disposals (28,448) (142,003)

Reclassified to properties held for sale (note 26) (8,800) —

Net gain from fair value adjustments 1,092,820 361,628

Carrying amount at 31 December 5,380,282 4,249,670

During the year, certain subsidiaries of the Company disposed of their investment properties with 

aggregate carrying value of HK$28,448,000 at total consideration of HK$91,000,000, resulting in a 

gain of HK$62,552,000 after taking into account of selling and directly attributable expenses.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued at 31 December 2007 by independent, professionally 

qualified valuer, B.I. Appraisals Limited. The valuation was mainly arrived at by reference to the bases 

as described in note 4(i) to the financial statements.

The Group’s interests in investment properties are situated in Hong Kong and their carrying amount 

are analysed as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Held on lease over 50 years 5,342,432 4,214,570

Held on lease from 10 to 50 years 37,850 35,100

5,380,282 4,249,670

As at 31 December 2007, certain investment properties of the Group with total carrying value 

of HK$5,160,580,000 (2006: HK$4,083,595,000) were pledged to secure certain bank loans of 

HK$1,542,698,000 (2006: HK$1,290,338,000) (note 31).

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital 

appreciation purposes are measured using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as 

investment properties.



65

A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
EP

O
R

T 
20

07

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

16. OPERATING LEASE PREPAYMENT

The Group’s interest in leasehold land represent operating lease prepayments and its net carrying value 

are analysed as follows:

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 11,551 11,565

Amortisation of operating lease prepayment (14) (14)

Carrying amount at 31 December 11,537 11,551

The Group’s interest in leasehold land is located in Hong Kong with remaining lease period of over 50 

years.
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Group

Leasehold

building

Leasehold

improvements

Furniture,

fixtures and

equipment

Motor

vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2006

Cost/Valuation 24,600 9,196 9,361 2,364 45,521

Accumulated depreciation — (8,294) (7,417) (1,652) (17,363)

Net carrying amount 24,600 902 1,944 712 28,158

Year ended 31 December 2006

Opening net carrying amount 24,600 902 1,944 712 28,158

Additions — 2,133 234 142 2,509

Surplus on revaluation 2,292 — — — 2,292

Disposals — (112) (9) — (121)

Depreciation (492) (561) (626) (187) (1,866)

Translation difference — — 25 14 39

Closing net carrying amount 26,400 2,362 1,568 681 31,011

At 31 December 2006

Cost/Valuation 26,400 10,997 5,269 1,437 44,103

Accumulated depreciation — (8,635) (3,701) (756) (13,092)

Net carrying amount 26,400 2,362 1,568 681 31,011

Analysis of cost/valuation

At cost — 10,997 5,269 1,437 17,703

At professional valuation 26,400 — — — 26,400

26,400 10,997 5,269 1,437 44,103
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Leasehold

building

Leasehold

improvements

Furniture,

fixtures and

equipment

Motor

vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2007

Opening net carrying amount 26,400 2,362 1,568 681 31,011

Additions — 402 760 674 1,836

Surplus on revaluation 1,928 — — — 1,928

Disposals — (147) (144) (424) (715)

Depreciation (528) (854) (632) (319) (2,333)

Translation difference — — 52 26 78

Closing net carrying amount 27,800 1,763 1,604 638 31,805

At 31 December 2007

Cost/Valuation 27,800 11,109 5,717 1,727 46,353

Accumulated depreciation — (9,346) (4,113) (1,089) (14,548)

Net carrying amount 27,800 1,763 1,604 638 31,805

Analysis of cost/valuation

At cost — 11,109 5,717 1,727 18,553

At professional valuation 27,800 — — — 27,800

27,800 11,109 5,717 1,727 46,353

At the balance sheet date, the Group’s leasehold building held under long-term leases in Hong Kong is 

stated at valuation of HK$27,800,000 (2006: HK$26,400,000).

At 31 December 2007, the Group’s leasehold building was valued by B.I. Appraisals Limited by 

reference to the bases as described in note 4(i) to the financial statements. A revaluation surplus of 

approximately HK$1,928,000 (2006: HK$2,292,000) had been credited to asset revaluation reserve.

Had the leasehold building been carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation, their carrying 

values at 31 December 2007 would have been approximately HK$6,293,000 (2006: HK$6,422,000).

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
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18. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December

Opening net carrying amount 34,241 31,003

Additions 17,896 4,034

Amortisation (990) (796)

Closing net carrying amount 51,147 34,241

At 31 December

Cost 57,118 39,222

Accumulated amortisation (5,971) (4,981)

Net carrying amount 51,147 34,241

Analysis of lease terms:

In Hong Kong — held on lease between 10 to 50 years 34,884 34,241

In the PRC — held on lease between 10 to 50 years 16,263 —

Net carrying amount 51,147 34,241
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19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Company

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 2,318,856 2,318,856

Less: impairment loss (1,773,856) (1,773,856)

545,000 545,000

Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,524,136 1,524,136

Less: Provision for impairment (1,477,687) (1,477,687)

46,449 46,449

591,449 591,449

Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Details of principal subsidiaries are set out in note 46 to the financial statements.

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted share, at cost 3 3

Share of post - acquisition results 97 108

100 111

Amounts due from associates 2,742 2,720

Less: Provision for impairment (2,742) —

— 2,720

100 2,831

The amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment. 

No repayment will be demanded within 12 months from the balance sheet date and the amounts are 

classified as non-current assets accordingly.
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Particulars of the associates as at 31 December 2007 are as follows:

Company name

Particulars of 

issued shares 

held

Country of 

incorporation/ 

operation

% Interest 

held

Principal

activities 

Happy Wealth Industries 

Limited

2 ordinary shares 

of HK$1 each

Hong Kong 30% Property investment

Wellway Estate Limited 10,000 ordinary 

shares of HK$1 

each

Hong Kong 30% Investment holding 

and property 

investment

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s associates, 

extracted from their unaudited management accounts:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets 10,033 10,070

Liabilities 9,690 9,699

Revenue 18 38

(Loss)/Profit for the year (37) 44

21. INTERESTS IN A JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITY
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted share, at cost 1 1

Share of post-acquisition results (50) (23)

(49) (22)

Amount due from a jointly-controlled entity 23,958 18,331

23,909 18,309

The amount due from a jointly-controlled entity is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of 

repayment. No repayment will be demanded within 12 months from the balance sheet date and the 

amount is classified as non-current assets accordingly.
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21. INTERESTS IN A JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITY (Continued)

Particulars of the jointly-controlled entity at 31 December 2007 are as follows:

Percentage of

Company name

Place of

incorporation

and 

operations

Issued and

paid-up capital

Ownership

interest

attributable

to the Group

Voting

power

Profit

sharing

Principal

activities

Golden Choice 

Enterprises Limited

Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares 

of HK$1 each

50% 50% 50% Property 

development

The following is a condensed summary of financial information of the Group’s jointly-controlled entity, 

extracted from its unaudited management account:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of assets and liabilities attributable to the Group

Current assets 11,930 9,142

Current liabilities (11,980) (9,165)

Net liabilities (50) (23)

Share of results attributable to the Group

Revenue — —

Administrative expenses (27) (17)

Loss for the year (27) (17)
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22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted investment, at cost 6,660 6,660

Provision for impairment losses (6,650) (6,650)

10 10

Listed equity securities, at fair value — listed in Hong Kong 1 1

11 11

Market value of listed investments 1 1

Unlisted investment represents 35% of the issued ordinary share capital of an unlisted company 

incorporated in Hong Kong.

The unlisted investment is classified as an available-for-sale financial assets because in the opinion of 

the directors, the Group has no significant influence over the financial and operating policy decisions 

of the investee company.
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23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Group

Urban

infrastructure

development

rights

HK$’000

At 1 January 2006

Cost 10,918

Accumulated amortisation (835)

Net carrying amount 10,083

Year ended 31 December 2006

Opening net carrying amount 10,083

Additions 4,044

Amortisation charge (659)

Translation difference 452

Closing net carrying amount 13,920

At 31 December 2006

Cost 15,460

Accumulated amortisation (1,540)

Net carrying amount 13,920

Year ended 31 December 2007

Opening net carrying amount 13,920

Amortisation charge (801)

Translation difference 964

Closing net carrying amount 14,083

At 31 December 2007

Cost 16,567

Accumulated amortisation (2,484)

Net carrying amount 14,083

The amortisation charge for the year is included in other operating expenses.
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24. GOODWILL
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Gross amount

At 1 January 3,714 10,594

Disposal of subsidiaries — (6,880)

At 31 December 3,714 3,714

Accumulated impairment loss

At 1 January (3,714) (10,594)

Disposal of subsidiaries — 6,880

At 31 December (3,714) (3,714)

Net carrying amount

Gross amount 3,714 3,714

Accumulated impairment loss (3,714) (3,714)

At 31 December — —

25. INVENTORIES
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 1,082 357

Work in progress 7,953 8,780

Finished goods 27,226 22,534

36,261 31,671

Less: provision for obsolete inventories (11,791) (5,776)

24,470 25,895

Work in progress and finished goods represent urban infrastructure construction works either in 

progress or completed and available for sale as at the balance sheet date.
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26. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 42,705 —

Additions 727,042 42,705

Reclassification from investment properties (note 15) 8,800 —

Disposal (136,657) —

641,890 42,705

Less: write-down to net realisable value (4,006) —

Carrying amount at 31 December 637,884 42,705

Properties held for sale stated

— at cost 605,934 42,705

— at net realisable value 31,950 —

637,884 42,705

On 18 April 2007, certain subsidiaries of the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement 

concerning disposal of certain properties with carrying value of HK$136,657,000 at a consideration 

of HK$230,000,000, resulting in a gain of HK$88,199,000 after taking into account of selling and 

directly attributable expenses of HK$5,144,000.

As at 31 December 2007, the Group’s properties held for sale with aggregate carrying value 

of HK$564,937,000 (2006: HK$10,873,000) were pledged to secure certain bank loans of 

HK$298,957,000 (2006: HK$7,000,000) (note 31).

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 65,545 61,857

Less: Provision for impairment (2,235) (2,091)

Trade receivables, net 63,310 59,766

Other receivable, utility deposit and prepayment 14,820 4,868

78,130 64,634
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The credit terms of the Group range from 30 to 90 days. At 31 December 2007, the ageing analysis of 

the trade receivables was as follows:

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 36,324 32,846

31 – 90 days 6,356 6,684

91 – 180 days 5,834 2,850

Over 180 days 14,796 17,386

Total trade receivables 63,310 59,766

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded using an allowance account unless the 

Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written 

off against trade receivables directly. The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the 

year is as follows :

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of year 2,091 1,062

Provision for impairment 144 1,029

At end of year 2,235 2,091

At 31 December 2007, included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired trade 

receivables. The individually impaired receivables related to invoices that were outstanding for more 

than one year and management assessed that only limited portion of the receivables is expected to be 

recovered. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivables that are not impaired are as follows :

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 42,680 39,530

Less than 90 days past due 5,834 2,850

Past due more than 90 days but less than 1 year 4,805 11,234

Past due more than 1 year but less than 2 years 9,991 6,152

At 31 December 63,310 59,766

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a wide range of customers 

for whom there were no recent history of default. Trade receivables that were past due but not 

impaired related to a number of customer that have a good track record with the Group. Based 

on past experience, management believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of 

these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still 

considered fully recoverable.

28. BANK DEPOSIT AT ESCROW ACCOUNT
Part of the purchase consideration arising from the disposal of properties held for sale (note 26) was 

deposited in an escrow account pending for the fulfilment of certain conditions of the transaction. The 

bank deposit at fixed-rate earns effective interest rate of 2.76% per annum and the deposit period is 

32 days. As at 31 December 2007, the Group had not fulfilled these conditions. The funds held in the 

escrow account was subsequently released upon satisfaction of these conditions on 29 January 2008.

29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank and cash balances 10,054 28,509

Short-term bank deposits 55,998 60,000

66,052 88,509
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29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on the daily bank deposit rates. Short-term bank 

deposits were made for the periods ranging between 8 to 14 days (2006: 4 to 14 days) depending on 

the immediate cash requirement of the Group, and earned interest at respective short-term deposit 

rates ranging from 3.0% to 5.375% (2006: 3.0% to 4.8%) per annum. The carrying amount of the 

cash and cash equivalents approximate to their fair values.

Included in bank and cash balances of the Group is HK$44,840,000 (2006: HK$21,645,000) of 

bank balances denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) placed with banks in the PRC. RMB is not a freely 

convertible currency.

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 20,228 27,183

Receipt in advance 8,214 8,467

Rental and other deposits received 48,309 40,202

Accrued expenses and other payables 9,909 9,309

86,660 85,161

At 31 December 2007, the ageing analysis of the trade payables was as follows:

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 10,935 12,970

31 – 90 days 1,182 1,764

Over 90 days 8,111 12,449

Total trade payables 20,228 27,183
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31. BORROWINGS
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current

Bank loans — secured 1,361,276 405,658

Current

Bank loans — secured 480,379 891,680

Other loans 25,629 60,908

506,008 952,588

Total borrowings 1,867,284 1,358,246

At 31 December 2007, the Group’s borrowings were repayable as follows :

2007 2006

Bank

loans-

secured

Other

loans

Bank

loans-

secured

Other

loans

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

On demand or within one year 480,379 25,629 891,680 60,908

Within a period of more than one year 

but not exceeding two years 275,276 — 87,936 —

Within a period of more than two years 

but not exceeding five years 863,989 — 110,319 —

Due after five years 222,011 — 207,403 —

Total 1,841,655 25,629 1,297,338 60,908

Bank loans are secured by certain investment properties and properties held for sale of the Group as 

set out in notes 15 and 26 respectively to the financial statements.

The analysis that shows the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s borrowings is set out in 

note 44.1(d) to the financial statements.
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31. BORROWINGS (Continued)

The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as follows :

2007 2006

Bank borrowings HIBOR+0.85%

to

HIBOR+1.125%

HIBOR+1.125%

to

Prime lending

rate–1%

Other borrowings Prime lending

rate+1%

Prime lending

rate+1%

32. CONVERTIBLE BOND
Company and Group

On 17 June 2004, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Agreement”) with Ko Bee Limited 

(“Ko Bee”), the ultimate holding company of the Company, in relation to subscription and issue of the 

convertible bond (the “Bond”) of the Company.

In August 2004, the Company issued the Bond to Ko Bee at a nominal value of HK$148,499,000. The 

Bond bears interest at 3% per annum below prime lending rate quoted by Hong Kong and Shanghai 

Banking Corporation Limited. The Bond matures on 17 June 2008 and can be converted into shares at 

the holder’s option at the exercise price of HK$1.66 per share (the “Conversion price”). On 10 March 

2005 and 30 December 2005, Ko Bee exercised its rights and converted a total principal amount of 

HK$55,000,000 and HK$70,000,000 at the Conversion price into 33,132,530 shares and 42,168,674 

shares respectively.

The movement in the liability component of the Bond is as follows :

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Liability component at 1 January 23,355 23,355

Interest charged to finance costs (note 7) 1,078 1,152

Interest paid/accrued (1,078) (1,152)

Liability component at 31 December 23,355 23,355



81

A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
EP

O
R

T 
20

07

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

32. CONVERTIBLE BOND (Continued)

The fair value of the liability component of the Bond at 31 December 2007 amounted to approximately 

HK$22,816,000 (2006: HK$22,816,000), which is calculated using cash flows discounted at the 

market interest risk for an equivalent non-convertible bond, which the directors of the Company have 

estimated to be 5.75% (2006: 5.75%) per annum.

Interest expenses on the Bond is calculated using the effective interest method by applying the 

effective interest rate of 4.93% (2006: 4.93%) per annum to the liability component.

33. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
The movement on the deferred tax liabilities is as follows :

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 540,837 473,782

Deferred taxation charged to :

— income statement (note 11) 195,045 66,654

— asset revaluation reserve 338 401

At 31 December 736,220 540,837

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised in the balance sheet and the movements 

during the current and prior years :

Accelerated tax

depreciation

Fair value

gains Total

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 27,237 23,467 513,600 450,315 540,837 473,782

Charged to:

— income statement 4,154 3,369 190,891 63,285 195,045 66,654

— asset revaluation reserve 338 401 — — 338 401

At 31 December 31,729 27,237 704,491 513,600 736,220 540,837
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33. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2007, the amount of unrecognised deferred tax assets is mainly represented by 

tax effect of temporary differences attributable to unrecognised tax losses of HK$12,285,000 (2006: 

HK$21,078,000).

The deductible temporary differences have not been recognised in the financial statements as it is not 

probable that taxable profit will be available against which the tax loss or other deductible temporary 

differences can be utilised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. All tax losses and 

deductible temporary differences of the Group have no expiry dates under the current tax legislation.

Company

No deferred tax has been provided in the financial statements of the Company as there are no 

temporary differences.

34. SHARE CAPITAL
Company and Group

2007 2006

Number

of shares HK$’000

Number

of shares HK$’000

Authorised :

Ordinary shares of

 HK$0.10 each 5,000,000,000 500,000 5,000,000,000 500,000

Issued and fully paid :

At 1 January 222,657,816 22,266 222,222,113 22,222

Exercise of warrants — — 285,703 29

Exercise of share options 1,170,000 117 150,000 15

At 31 December 223,827,816 22,383 222,657,816 22,266
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35. RESERVES
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Share premium (note (a)) 260,409 256,548

Asset revaluation reserve 20,691 19,101

Other equity reserve — convertible bond (note 32) 94 94

Employee share-based equity reserve 13,582 1,705

Retained profits 3,312,181 2,264,521

Exchange reserve 8,521 3,071

Special reserve (note (b)) 1,848 1,848

Proposed final dividend (note 13(a)) 15,668 11,139

3,632,994 2,558,027

Notes:

(a) Share premium represents the excess of consideration received over the par value of share issued.

(b) The special reserve of the Group initially represented the difference between the nominal value of the share 
capital issued by the Company in exchange for the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries 
pursuant to the Group’s re-organisation in 1997.

Details of the movements in the above reserves are set out in the consolidated statement of changes 

in equity on page 32 to the financial statements.
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35. RESERVES (Continued)

Company

Share
premium

Contributed
surplus

Other
equity

reserve

Employee
share-based

equity
reserve

Accumulated
losses

Proposed
final

dividend Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2006 255,763 2,212,886 94 1,589 (1,934,957) 7,788 543,163
Exercise of warrants 534 — — — — — 534
Exercise of share options

(note 36) 251 — — (44) — — 207
Lapse of share options

 (note 36) — — — (92) 92 — —
Equity-settled share-based 

payment (note 36) — — — 252 — — 252
Loss for the year — — — — (2,944) — (2,944)
Final dividend paid for 2005 

(note 13(b)) — — — — — (7,788) (7,788)
Proposed final dividend for 

2006 (note 13(a)) — (11,139) — — — 11,139 —

At 31 December 2006 and
 1 January 2007 256,548 2,201,747 94 1,705 (1,937,809) 11,139 533,424

Exercise of share options
(note 36) 3,861 — — (1,107) — — 2,754

Lapse of share options 
(note 36) — — — (95) 95 — —

Equity-settled share-based 
payment (note 36) — — — 13,079 — — 13,079

Loss for the year — — — — (15,102) — (15,102)
Underprovision for final 

dividend for 2006 — (52) — — — 52 —
Final dividend paid for 2006 

(note 13(b)) — — — — — (11,191) (11,191)
Proposed final dividend for 

2007 (note 13(a)) — (15,668) — — — 15,668 —

At 31 December 2007 260,409 2,186,027 94 13,582 (1,952,816) 15,668 522,964

(a) Share premium represents the excess of consideration received over the par value of share issued.

(b) The contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal value of the Company’s shares 
issued in exchange for all the issued ordinary shares of Lucky Spark Limited (a subsidiary) and the value 
of the net underlying assets of the subsidiaries acquired. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as 
amended), the contributed surplus of the Company is available for distribution to the shareholders under 
certain circumstances. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend or make a distribution out 
of contribution surplus if:

(1) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or

(2) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its 
issued share capital and share premium accounts.
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36. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION
Share options

The Company operates two share option schemes adopted on 25 February 1997 (the “1997 Share 

Option Scheme”) and 22 July 2002 (the “2002 Share Option Scheme”) (collectively the “Schemes”) 

respectively.

The Stock Exchange introduced changes to the provisions of the Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules in 

relation to share option schemes which took effect on 1 September 2001. In order to comply with the 

new provisions, the 1997 Share Option Scheme was terminated on 22 July 2002 when the 2002 Share 

Option Scheme was adopted. Since then, no further share option may be granted under the 1997 

Share Option Scheme. However, in respect of the outstanding share options granted under the 1997 

Share Option Scheme, the 1997 Share Option Scheme shall remain in force and such outstanding share 

options shall continue to be subject to the provisions of the 1997 Share Option Scheme and the new 

provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The principal terms of the Schemes are set out as follows:

Purpose of the Schemes

The purpose of the Schemes is to provide incentives and rewards to eligible participants who 

contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.

Eligible participants of the Schemes

1997 Share Option Scheme

Any employee of the Company or its subsidiaries and any executive director of the Company or its 

subsidiaries.

2002 Share Option Scheme

(i) any executive or non-executive directors of the Group or any employees of the Group; (ii) any 

discretionary object of a discretionary trust established by any employee, executive or non-executive 

director of the Group; (iii) any consultant(s) and professional adviser(s) to the Group; (iv) Chief 

Executive (as defined under the Listing Rules) or Substantial Shareholder (as defined under the Listing 

Rules) of the Company; (v) Associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) of Director, Chief Executive 

or Substantial Shareholder of the Company; and (vi) employees of the Substantial Shareholder.
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36. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (Continued)

Total number of securities issuable

1997 Share Option Scheme

The 1997 Share Option Scheme has been terminated and no further share options may be granted 

thereunder.

2002 Share Option Scheme

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted 

under the 2002 Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not 

exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date of approval of the 2002 Share Option 

Scheme provided that share options lapsed will not be counted for the purpose of calculating such 

10% limit.

Under the 2002 Share Option Scheme, the Company may obtain a fresh approval from its shareholders 

in general meeting to refresh the above mentioned 10% limit. In such event, the total number of 

shares in respect of which share options may be granted under the 2002 Share Option Scheme and 

any other share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the total number of shares 

in issue as at the date of such approval provided that share options previously granted under the 2002 

Share Option Scheme (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised share options) will 

not be counted for the purpose of calculating such 10% limit.

At the annual general meeting of the Company convened on 30 May 2005, the said 10% limit 

was refreshed to the effect that the limit of number of shares available for issue was increased to 

16,486,782 shares.

Notwithstanding anything hereinbefore contained and subject to the maximum entitlement of each 

participant hereinafter mentioned, the maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise 

of all outstanding share options granted and yet to be granted under the 2002 Share Option Scheme 

and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30% (or such other higher 

percentage as may be allowed under the Listing Rules) of the total number of shares in issue from time 

to time.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares available for issue under the 2002 

Share Option Scheme was 6,546,782 representing approximately 2.92% of the Company’s shares in 

issue as at that date.
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36. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (Continued)

Maximum entitlement of each employee/participant

1997 Share Option Scheme

No option may be granted to any one Employee (as defined in the 1997 Share Option Scheme) which, 

if exercised in full, would result in such Employee becoming entitled to subscribe for such number 

of shares as, when aggregated with the total number of shares already issued under all the options 

previously granted to him would exceed 25% of the aggregate number of shares for the time being 

issued and issuable under the 1997 Share Option Scheme.

2002 Share Option Scheme

Unless separately approved by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting with the particular 

Participant (as defined in the 2002 Share Option Scheme) and his or her associate (as defined under 

the Listing Rules) abstaining from voting, the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon 

exercise of the options granted to each Participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) 

in any 12 months period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue.

Period to take up share options and minimum period to hold before exercise

Under the Schemes, the period within which the shares must be taken up under a share option and 

the minimum period, if any, for which a share option must be held before it can be exercised are to 

be decided by the Directors of the Company upon granting the relevant share options. Details of such 

information (if any) relating to the outstanding share options are set out below.

Amount payable to take up share options and time to accept offer

Under the Schemes, an offer for the granting of share options under the Schemes shall be accepted 

within 28 days from the offer date and by way of payment of a consideration of HK$1.00.
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36. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (Continued)

Exercise price

1997 Share Option Scheme

The exercise price shall be a price determined by the board of directors of the Company and shall be 

the higher of:

(i) a price not less than 80% of the average of the closing prices of the shares quoted in The Stock 

Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding the offer date;

(ii) the nominal value of the shares.

2002 Share Option Scheme

The exercise price shall be a price determined by the board of directors of the Company and shall be 

at least the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the shares quoted in the Stock Exchange on the offer date;

(ii) a price being the average of the closing prices of the shares as quoted in the Stock Exchange 

for the 5 trading days immediately preceding the offer date;

(iii) the nominal value of the shares.

Life of the Schemes

The Schemes have a life of 10 years from their respective adoption dates. 

The 1997 Share Option Scheme lapsed on 24 February 2007. The remaining life of the 2002 Share 

Option Scheme is 4.25 years from the date of this annual report.
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36. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (Continued)

As at the balance sheet date, details of outstanding options granted to several Directors and various 

employees of the Group are as follows:

1997 Share Option Scheme

Number of options

Name of grantee Date of grant

Exercise 

price Exercisable period

As at

1 January

2007

Granted

during

the year

Lapsed

during

the year

As at 31 

December

2007

(HK$)  

Directors

Foo Kam Chu, Grace 2 January 2001 2.97 2 July 2001

to

24 February 2007

76,000 — (76,000) —

Chan Wai Ling 2 January 2001 2.97 2 July 2001

to

24 February 2007

60,000 — (60,000) —

Tse Chun Kong, Thomas 2 January 2001 2.97 2 July 2001

to

24 February 2007

50,000 — (50,000) —

Kwan Chai Ming 1 June 2000 12.40 1 June 2001

to

24 February 2007

20,000 — (20,000) —

2 January 2001 2.97 2 January 2002

to

24 February 2007

10,000 — (10,000) —

Other Employees 2 January 2001 2.97 2 July 2001

to

24 February 2007

128,000 — (128,000) —

  

344,000 — (344,000) —
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36. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (Continued)

2002 Share Option Scheme

Closing
price

Weighted
average
closing

price of
 shares Number of options

Name of grantee Date of grant

immediately
preceding

the date
of grant

Exercise
price

immediately
before

exercise
 date Exercisable period

As at 1
January

2007

Granted
during

the year

Lapsed*/
Exercised

during
the year

As at 31
December

2007

Fair
value of

option
granted

(HK$) (HK$) (HK$) (HK$’000)

Directors
Foo Kam Chu, Grace 6 Jul 2004 1.45 1.47 N/A 6 January 2005 to

5 January 2010
200,000 — — 200,000 —

4 Jul 2005 2.35 2.38 N/A 4 January 2006 to
3 January 2011

200,000 — — 200,000 —

21 Nov 2006 2.53 2.52 N/A 20 May 2007 to
19 May 2012

200,000 — — 200,000 —

19 Jul 2007 6.17 6.17 N/A 18 January 2008 to
21 July 2012

— 600,000 — 600,000 1,395

Chan Wai Ling 10 Jul 2003 1.50 1.50 N/A 8 January 2004 to
7 January 2009

60,000 — — 60,000 —

6 Jul 2004 1.45 1.47 N/A 6 January 2005 to
5 January 2010

90,000 — — 90,000 —

4 Jul 2005 2.35 2.38 N/A 4 January 2006 to
3 January 2011

90,000 — — 90,000 —

21 Nov 2006 2.53 2.52 N/A 20 May 2007 to
19 May 2012

90,000 — — 90,000 —

19 Jul 2007 6.17 6.17 N/A 18 January 2008 to
21 July 2012

— 2,000,000 — 2,000,000 4,648

Tse Chun Kong, 
Thomas

14 Jul 2003 1.50 1.50 N/A 8 January 2004 to
7 January 2009

60,000 — — 60,000 —

6 Jul 2004 1.45 1.47 N/A 6 January 2005 to
5 January 2010

90,000 — — 90,000 —

4 Jul 2005 2.35 2.38 N/A 4 January 2006 to
3 January 2011

90,000 — — 90,000 —

21 Nov 2006 2.53 2.52 N/A 20 May 2007 to
19 May 2012

90,000 — — 90,000 —

19 Jul 2007 6.17 6.17 N/A 18 January 2008 to
21 July 2012

— 90,000 — 90,000 209



91

A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
EP

O
R

T 
20

07

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

36. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (Continued)

2002 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Closing
price

Weighted
average
closing

price of
 shares Number of options

Name of grantee Date of grant

immediately
preceding

the date
of grant

Exercise
price

immediately
before

exercise
 date Exercisable period

As at 1
January

2007

Granted
during

the year

Lapsed*/
Exercised

during
the year

As at 31
December

2007

Fair
value of

option
granted

(HK$) (HK$) (HK$) (HK$’000)

Kwan Chai Ming 4 Jul 2005 2.35 2.38 3.59 4 January 2006 to
3 January 2011

80,000 — (80,000) — —

21 Nov 2006 2.53 2.52 4.40 20 May 2007 to
19 May 2012 

80,000 — (80,000) — —

19 Jul 2007 6.17 6.17 N/A 18 January 2008 to
21 July 2012

— 150,000 — 150,000 349

Meng Qinghui 16 Jul 2003 1.50 1.50 N/A 8 January 2004 to
7 January 2009

60,000 — — 60,000 —

6 Jul 2004 1.45 1.47 N/A 6 January 2005 to
5 January 2010

90,000 — — 90,000 —

4 Jul 2005 2.35 2.38 N/A 4 January 2006 to
3 January 2011

90,000 — — 90,000 —

19 Dec 2006 2.69 2.52 N/A 20 May 2007 to
19 May 2012

90,000 — — 90,000 —

19 Jul 2007 6.17 6.17 N/A 18 January 2008 to
21 July 2012

— 90,000 — 90,000 209

Liang Yanfeng 8 Jan 2007 2.60 2.52 N/A 20 May 2007 to
19 May 2012

— 90,000 — 90,000 77

19 Jul 2007 6.17 6.17 N/A 18 January 2008 to
21 July 2012

— 90,000 — 90,000 209

Other Employees 6 Jul 2004 1.45 1.47  N/A 6 January 2005 to
5 January 2010

90,000 — — 90,000 —

4 Jul 2005 2.35 2.38 3.44
N/A

4 January 2006 to
3 January 2011

620,000 —  (480,000 )/
 (50,000 )*

90,000 —

21 Nov 2006 2.53 2.52 4.40
N/A

20 May 2007 to
19 May 2012

670,000 —  (530,000 )/
 (50,000 )*

90,000 —

19 Jul 2007 6.17 6.17 N/A 18 January 2008 to
21 July 2012

— 2,750,000 — 2,750,000 6,392
 

3,130,000 5,860,000 (1,270,000) 7,720,000 13,488
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36. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (Continued)

2002 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The fair value of the options granted during the year determined at the dates of grant using the Black-

Scholes option pricing model were HK$13,488,000 (2006: HK$1,068,000).

Date of grant 8 January 2007 19 July 2007

Closing share price immediately preceding the date of 

grant HK$2.60 per share HK$6.17 per share

Expected volatility (based on the annualised historical 

volatility of the closing price of the shares of the 

Company for the past five years to the dates of 

grant) 70% 66%

Expected life (in years)  1.36 years  2.09 years

Risk-free interest rate  3.676%  3.669%

Expected dividend yield  1.30%  0.81%

The share options vest upon the commencement of the exercisable period and, as at 31 December 

2007, the total vested amount of HK$13,079,000 (2006: HK$252,000) was expensed through the 

income statement.

37. COMMITMENTS
(a) Operating lease commitments

At 31 December 2007, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 

operating leases are payable by the Group as follows :

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 1,655 998

In the second to fifth years inclusive 1,280 678

2,935 1,676

The Group leases a number of properties under operating leases. The leases run for period of 

two to three years. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
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37. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b) Capital commitments

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided for:

— Property development 2,216 7,155

— Acquisition of properties 204,474 68,913

— Capital contribution to subsidiaries in the PRC 29,800 67,400

236,490 143,468

All capital commitments are due for payment in the coming twelve months.

Company

The Company does not have any significant commitments as at 31 December 2007 (2006: Nil).

38. FUTURE OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
As at 31 December 2007, the Group had future aggregate minimum lease receipts under non-

cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings as follows :

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 123,566 98,965

In the second to fifth years inclusive 55,074 71,557

178,640 170,522

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) under operating lease arrangements which run 

for an initial period of one to three years, with an option to renew the lease terms at the expiry date 

or at dates as mutually agreed between the Group and the respective tenants. The terms of the leases 

also require the tenants to pay rental deposits.

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
During the course of business, certain bank accounts were opened and held in the name of certain 

subsidiaries on behalf of third parties to whom these subsidiaries provided building management 

services. As at the balance sheet date, those bank balances which were held on behalf of third parties 

and were not accounted for in the books of account and financial statements of the Group amounted 

to HK$4,998,000 (2006: HK$4,289,000).



94

SO
U

N
D

W
IL

L 
H

O
LD

IN
G

S 
LI

M
IT

ED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

40. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS
The Company has executed guarantees amounting to HK$1,787,562,000 (2006: HK$1,302,607,000) 

with respect to bank loans to its subsidiaries, which are also secured against properties held by those 

subsidiaries. Under the guarantees, the Company would be liable to pay the bank if the bank is unable 

to recover the loans. At the balance sheet date, no provision for the Company’s obligation under the 

guarantee contract has been made as the directors consider that it is not probable that the loan will 

be in default.

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The following transactions with related parties were, in the opinion of the directors, carried out in the 

ordinary course of business during the year :

(a) A subsidiary of the Company entered into a tenancy agreement with a related company which 

is in association with the Chairman and an executive director of the Company for leasing a 

residential property situated in Hong Kong for a period of three years commencing from 1 

May 2004 and expiring on 30 April 2007 at the monthly rental of HK$80,000. The lease was 

renewed for three years from 1 May 2007 to 30 April 2010 at the same monthly rental of 

HK$80,000. Total rental paid for the year ended 31 December 2007 amounted to HK$960,000 

(2006: HK$960,000).

(b) On 27 December 2006, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a tenancy 

agreement with a related company, in which the Chairman and an executive director of the 

Company have interests, for leasing a property situated at Guangzhou, PRC for office purpose 

at monthly rental and management charge at RMB57,953 for a period of 24 months from 1 

January 2007 to 31 December 2008. Total rental and management charges paid for the year 

amounted to HK$695,000 (2006: HK$513,000).

(c) On 30 April 2005, a related company in which the Chairman and an executive director of the 

Company have interests, advanced to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company an unsecured 

revolving credit facility up to a maximum total principal amount of HK$100,000,000 with 

interest rate at prime lending rate for Hong Kong dollars plus 1% per annum. The purpose of 

granting this unsecured revolving credit facility is to replace a previous unsecured revolving 

credit facility with a maximum total principal amount of HK$50,000,000. The final maturity 

date is on 30 April 2008. Interest on this credit facility for the year ended 31 December 2007 

amounted to HK$1,511,000 (2006: HK$6,211,000). As at the balance sheet date, approximately 

HK$25,629,000 (2006: HK$60,908,000) was utilised (note 31). Subsequent to the balance 

sheet date, the maturity date of this credit facility has been extended to 30 April 2011 on the 

same terms.

(d) Interest on convertible bond paid/payable to Ko Bee for the year ended 31 December 2007 

amounted to HK$1,078,000 (2006: HK$1,152,000).



95

A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
EP

O
R

T 
20

07
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For the year ended 31 December 2007

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(e) Key management personnel compensation

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Basic salaries and other benefits 11,238 9,378

Pension costs — defined contribution plan 118 108

Equity-settled share-based payment 11,711 165

23,067 9,651

42. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
The Group has joined a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF Scheme”). The MPF Scheme is 

registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident 

Fund Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds 

under the control of independent trustees. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and 

its employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme at the rates specified in the 

rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the required 

contributions under the scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution 

payables in future years.

The defined contribution retirement scheme contributions arising from the MPF Scheme charged to the 

income statement represent contributions payable by the Group at the rates specified in the rules of 

the scheme.

Employees in the Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to participate in a defined contribution 

retirement scheme operated by the local municipal government. The PRC subsidiaries are required 

to contribute 18% to 23% (2006: 18% to 22%) of the employee payroll to the scheme to fund the 

retirement benefits to the employees. The Group has no further liability in respect of the retirement 

benefit of the employees of the PRC subsidiaries.

The details of the retirement benefits scheme contributions for the Directors and employees which 

have been dealt with in the income statement of the Group for the year, are as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Gross scheme contributions 1,202 966
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43. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Disposal of subsidiaries

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Net assets/(liabilities) disposed of:

Debtors, prepayments and deposits 59 20

Creditors and accruals (16) (666)

43 (646)

(Loss)/Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (33) 624

Consideration 10 22

Satisfied by :

Cash to be received and included in other receivables 10 22

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
44.1 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed to market risk, specifically to credit risk, liquidity risk, currency risk, and 

interest rate risk in the normal course of business. The Group does not have any written risk 

management policies and guidelines. However, the board of directors meets periodically to 

analyse and formulate measures to manage the Group’s exposure to the market risk.

Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies on its risk management. As the Group’s 

exposure to the market risk is kept to a minimum level, the Group has not used any derivatives 

and other instruments for hedging purposes. The Group does not hold or issue derivative 

financial instruments for trading purposes. The most significant financial risks to which the 

Group is exposed to are described below. A summary of the Group’s financial assets and 

liabilities by category is disclosed in note 44.2.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group closely monitors its loan portfolio and compares the interest margin under 

loan agreements with existing banks against new offers on borrowing rates from 

different banks in the loan re-financing and negotiation process.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

44.1 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(a) Interest rate risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing 

financial instruments at the balance sheet date:

Group

Weighted average
effective interest rate Carrying amount

2007 2006 2007 2006
% % HK$’000 HK$’000

Variable-rate instruments
Financial liabilities
Bank loans, secured 4.41 5.30 (1,841,655) (1,297,338)
Other loans 7.22 8.92 (25,629) (60,908)
Convertible bond 4.93 4.93 (23,355) (23,355)

(1,890,639) (1,381,601)

Fixed-rate instruments
Financial assets
Bank deposit at escrow 

account 2.76 — 15,168 —
Short-term deposits 3.00 3.81 55,998 60,000

71,166 60,000
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

44.1 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(a) Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined by assuming that the change in interest 

rates had occurred at the balance sheet date and had been applied to variable-rate 

financial instruments at that date. The 25 basis point increase or decrease represents 

management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates over the 

period until the next annual balance sheet date. The analysis is performed on the same 

basis for the year ended 31 December 2006.

At 31 December 2007, it is estimated that a general increase of 25 basis points in interest 

rates, with all other variables held constant, would decrease the Group’s profit after tax 

and retained profits by approximately HK$4,701,000 (2006: HK$3,382,000). There is no 

impact on other components of consolidated equity in response to the general increase 

in interest rates. A decrease of 25 basis points in interest rate would have had the equal 

but opposite effect.

(b) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables, bank 

deposit at escrow account and cash and cash equivalents. The management has a credit 

policy and the exposures to credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed 

on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on 

the customer’s past history of making payments when due and current ability to pay, 

and take into account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the 

economic environment in which the customer operates. Normally, other than those 

property leasing rental receivables which are secured by rental deposits, the Group does 

not obtain collateral from other customers. Further quantitative disclosure in respect of 

the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in note 27.

The Group has deposited its cash with various banks. The credit risk on cash and bank 

balances is limited because most of the Group’s bank deposits are deposited with major 

banks and financial institutions located in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

44.1 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(c) Foreign currency risk

The Group’s exposure to currency exchange rates is minimal as the group companies 

hold majority of their financial assets/liabilities in their own functional currencies.

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to ensure adequate funds to meet commitments associated 

with its financial liabilities. Cash flows are closely monitored on an ongoing basis. The 

Group will raise funds from the realisation of its assets if required. The directors of the 

Company are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet in full its financial obligations 

as and when they fall due in the foreseeable future.

The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet 

dates of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities, which are based on 

contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using 

contractual rates or, if floating, based on current rates at the balance sheet date) and the 

earliest date the Group and the Company can be required to pay:

Group

As at 31 December 2007

Carrying

amount

Total

contractual

undiscounted

cash flow

Within

1 year

or on

demand

More than

1 year

but not 

exceeding

 2 years

More than

2 years

but not 

exceeding

5 years

More

than

5 years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 20,228 20,228 20,228 — — —

Accrued expenses 

and other 

payables 9,909 9,909 9,909 — — —

Bank loans, secured 1,841,655 2,131,997 551,986 332,870 906,608 340,533

Other loans 25,629 25,629 25,629 — — —

Convertible bond 23,355 24,076 24,076 — — —

1,920,776 2,211,839 631,828 332,870 906,608 340,533
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

44.1 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Group (Continued)

As at 31 December 2006

Carrying

amount

Total

contractual

undiscounted

cash flow

Within

1 year

or on

demand

More than

1 year

but not 

exceeding

 2 years

More than

2 years

but not 

exceeding

 5 years

More

than

5 years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 27,183 27,183 27,183 — — —

Accrued expenses 

and other 

payables 9,309 9,309 9,309 — — —

Bank loans, secured 1,297,338 1,580,372 947,966 111,673 168,363 352,370

Other loans 60,908 60,908 60,908 — — —

Convertible bond 23,355 25,270 1,149 24,121 — —

1,418,093 1,703,042 1,046,515 135,794 168,363 352,370

Company

As at 31 December 2007

Carrying

amount

Total

contractual

undiscounted

cash flow

Within

1 year or

on demand

More than

1 year but

not  exceeding

2 years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts due to subsidiaries 22,545 22,545 22,545 —

Trade and other payables 457 457 457 —

Convertible bond 23,355 24,076 24,076 —

46,357 47,078 47,078 —
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

44.1 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Company (Continued)

As at 31 December 2006

Carrying

amount

Total

contractual

undiscounted

cash flow

Within

1 year or

on demand

More than

1 year but

not  exceeding

2 years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts due to subsidiaries 11,685 11,685 11,685 —

Trade and other payables 964 964 964 —

Convertible bond 23,355 25,270 1,149 24,121

36,004 37,919 13,798 24,121

In view of significant cash outflows arising from short-term liabilities and capital 

commitment (note 37(b)), the directors consider the Group will be able to meet its 

obligations when they fall due to the following reasons:

(i) the Group has obtained additional loans financing facilities with an aggregate 

amounts of approximately HK$440 million subsequent to the balance sheet date 

with repayable terms ranging from six months to two years;

(ii) one of the bankers has confirmed that they are not aware of any circumstances 

why they would not renew the loans facilities of HK$280 million upon maturity 

within one year from balance sheet date;

(iii) a related company has extended the maturity date of an unsecured revolving 

credit facility of HK$100 million from 30 April 2008 to 30 April 2011 (note 41(c));

(iv) a consistent cash inflow is generated by steady rental income; and

(v) with net assets of HK$3,677 million, the Group should be able to secure 

additional loan facilities, if necessary.

(e) Fair value risk

The fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are not materially different 

from their carrying amounts because of the immediate or short term maturity of these 

financial instruments. The carrying amounts of non-current borrowings are presented in 

note 31 to the financial statements.
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

44.2 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and liabilities as 

recognised at the balance sheet dates are catergorised as follows. See notes 3.16 and 3.22 for 

explanations about how the categorisation of financial instruments affects their subsequent 

measurements.

Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Loans and receivables

— Trade receivables, net 63,310 59,766 — —

— Amounts due from associates — 2,720 — —

— Amount due from a jointly-controlled 

entity 23,958 18,331 — —

— Bank deposit at escrow account 15,168 — — —

— Cash and cash equivalents 66,052 88,509 21 20

168,488 169,326 21 20

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost 

— Amounts due to subsidiaries — — (22,545) (11,685)

— Trade payables (20,228) (27,183) — —

— Accrued expenses and other payables (9,909) (9,309) (457) (964)

— Bank loans, secured (1,841,655) (1,297,338) — —

— Other loans (25,629) (60,908) — —

— Convertible bond (23,355) (23,355) (23,355) (23,355)

(1,920,776) (1,418,093) (46,357) (36,004)
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45. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to safeguard the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for its shareholders and 

benefits for other stakeholders.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 

conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment 

to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the 

objectives, policies or processes during the current and previous years.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of debt to equity ratio, which is net debt divided by total 

capital. Net debt is calculated as the sum of its borrowings, trade and other payables and convertible 

bond less cash and cash equivalents as shown in the consolidated balance sheet. Total capital is 

calculated as total equity, as shown in the consolidated balance sheet. The Group aims to maintain the 

debt to equity ratio at a manageable level.

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade and other payables 86,660 85,161

Borrowings, secured 1,867,284 1,358,246

Convertible bond 23,355 23,355

Total debt 1,977,299 1,466,762

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (66,052) (88,509)

Net debt 1,911,247 1,378,253

Total equity 3,677,429 2,602,542

Net debt to equity ratio 0.52:1 0.53:1
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2007 are as follows :

Company name

Place of 
incorporation/
operations 

Particulars of 
nominal value of 
issued share capital/
registered capital

Percentage of
interest held

by the Company
Principal activitiesDirectly Indirectly

Champion Fund Limited Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares 
of HK$1 each

— 100% Property investment

Digital World Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of 
HK$1 each

— 100% Property development

Fineway Properties Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 
HK$1

— 100% Property assembly and 
trading

Gold Mark Industrial Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 
HK$1

— 100% Property investment

Golden Relay Company 
Limited

Hong Kong 99,998 ordinary shares 
of HK$1 each

2 non-voting deferred 
shares of HK$1 each

— 100% Property development 
and property 
investment

Goldprofit (Consultant) 
Services Company Limited

Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of 
HK$1 each

— 100% Provision of building 
repairs and 
maintenance 
services

Goldwell Property 
Management Limited

Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares 
of HK$1 each

— 100% Provision of building 
management service

Keyland Limited Hong Kong 1,000 ordinary shares 
of HK$1 each

— 100% Property investment 
and property 
development

Morich Properties Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 
HK$1

— 100% Property assembly and 
trading

On Step Properties Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 
HK$1

— 100% Property assembly and 
trading

Rise Champion Holdings 
Limited

Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of 
HK$1 each

— 100% Property investment, 
property assembly 
and trading

Solar Route Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of 
HK$1 each

— 100% Property investment 
and property 
development

Soundwill (BVI) Limited British Virgin 
Islands

100,001,000 ordinary 
shares of HK$1 each

100% — Investment holding

Soundwill Real Estate Agency 
Limited #

Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of 
HK$1 each

— 100% Provision of real estate 
agency services

Soundwill Real Estate (China) 
Limited #

British Virgin 
Island

1 ordinary share of 
US$1

— 100% Property development
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Company name

Place of 

incorporation/

operations 

Particulars of 

nominal vale of 

issued share capital/

registered capital

Percentage of

interest held

by the Company

Principal activitiesDirectly Indirectly

Super Keep Investment 
Limited #

Hong Kong 9,998 ordinary shares of 
HK$1 each 

2 non-voting deferred 
shares of HK$ 1 each

— 100% Property development

Wealth Sky Properties Limited # Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 — 100% Property assembly and 
trading

Wonder Mark Limited Hong Kong 1,000,000 ordinary 
shares of HK$1 each

— 100% Property investment

Soundwill (China) Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of 
HK$1 each

— 100% Investment holding

Soundwill (Chongqing) 
Limited #

Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares HK$1 
each

— 100% Investment holding, 
property assembly 
and trading

Soundwill (Fujian) Limited # Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares of 
HK$1 each

— 100% Investment holding

Soundwill (Jilin) Limited # Hong Kong 99 ordinary shares of 
HK$1 each 

1 non–voting deferred 
share of HK$1

— 100% Investment holding

Soundwill (Shaanxi) Limited # Hong Kong 1,000 ordinary shares of 
HK$1 each

— 100% Investment holding

韶關城市管網建設投資管理
有限公司*#

PRC Registered capital of 
HK$20,000,000**

— 80% Urban infrastructure 
development

柳州城市管網建設管理
有限公司*#

PRC Registered capital of 
HK$28,280,000**

— 80% Urban infrastructure 
development

貴港金朝陽城市管網建設管理
有限公司*#

PRC Registered capital of 
HK$20,000,000**

— 80% Urban infrastructure 
development

南昌城市管網建設投資
有限公司*#

PRC Registered capital of 
HK$30,000,000**

— 80% Urban infrastructure 
development

景德鎮城市管網建設投資管理
有限公司*#

PRC Registered capital of 
HK$8,000,000**^

— 80% Urban infrastructure 
development

南平市(金朝陽)城市管道建設
投資管理有限公司*#

PRC Registered capital of 
HK$25,000,000**

— 80% Urban infrastructure 
development

威海市城市管網建設投資
有限公司*#

PRC Registered capital of 
HK$20,000,000

— 80% Urban infrastructure 
development

重慶金朝陽城市管網建設管理
有限公司*#

PRC Registered capital of 
HK$20,000,000**

— 80% Urban infrastructure 
development

寶雞市城市管網建設投資
有限公司*#

PRC Registered capital of 
HK$20,000,000

— 80% Urban infrastructure 
development



106

SO
U

N
D

W
IL

L 
H

O
LD

IN
G

S 
LI

M
IT

ED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2007

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Company name

Place of 

incorporation/

operations 

Particulars of 

nominal vale of 

issued share capital/

registered capital

Percentage of

interest held

by the Company

Principal activitiesDirectly Indirectly

黃岡市城市管網建設投資
有限公司*#

PRC Registered capital of
HK$12,500,000**

— 80% Urban infrastructure 
development

鄂州金朝陽城市管網建設投資
有限公司*#

PRC Registered capital of 
HK$12,500,000**

— 80% Urban infrastructure 
development

玉溪市城市管道建設有限
公司*#

PRC Registered capital of 
HK$20,000,000

— 80% Urban infrastructure 
development

許昌市市政公用管網投資建設
管理有限公司*#

PRC Registered capital of 
HK$6,000,000**^^

— 80% Urban infrastructure 
development

廣州金朝陽城市管網建設有限
公司***#

PRC Registered capital of 
RMB10,000,000

— 100% Urban infrastructure 
development 

山東金朝陽城市管網建設有限
公司***#

PRC Registered capital of 
RMB10,000,000

— 100% Urban infrastructure 
development 

Notes:

* These subsidiaries were established as cooperative joint ventures with limited liability.

** Pursuant to the joint venture agreements, the parties from the Mainland China to the agreements are 
required to contribute certain urban infrastructure development rights as capital contributions to these 
subsidiaries. As at the balance sheet date, such urban infrastructure development rights had not been 
injected to the subsidiaries as capital contributions.

*** This subsidiary was established as a foreign wholly-owned limited liability company.

# Subsidiaries not audited by Grant Thornton or other Grant Thornton International member firms.

^ This subsidiary reduced registered capital from HK$20,000,000 to HK$8,000,000 on 22 September 2006.

^^ This subsidiary reduced registered capital from HK$20,000,000 to HK$6,000,000 on 7 August 2007.

The directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the particulars of all subsidiaries would be of 

excessive length and therefore the above list contains only the particulars of the principal subsidiaries 

which materially affect the results or assets of the Group. 

47. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT
On 19 March 2008, one wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a non-binding 

Memorandum of Understanding to dispose of certain properties situated at Nos. 1-11 Jones Street 

and Nos. 3-11 Warren Street, Hong Kong (the “Properties”) upon fulfillment of certain conditions 

precedent. The Properties were acquired by the Group at a cost of HK$265,441,000 and disposed of 

at a consideration of HK$470,000,000. If the transaction is consummated, the expected net gain to 

the Group will be approximately HK$200,059,000 after taking into account selling and other expenses 

to be incurred in the sum of approximately HK$4,500,000. The Group intends to apply the sale 

proceeds as to approximately HK$160,000,000 for repayment of the mortgages on the Properties and 

the balance for general working capital.
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APPENDIX I — MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2007

Location

Approximate 

gross

floor area Land use Lease term

(sq.ft.)

38 Russell Street, Causeway Bay,

 Hong Kong

243,151 Commercial Long-term lease

5-29 Tang Lung Street, Causeway Bay,

 Hong Kong

121,281 Commercial /

 Residential

Long-term lease

1-11 Jones Street and 3-11 Warren Street, 

 Tai Hang, Hong Kong

66,765 Residential Long-term lease

32-50 Haven Street, Causeway Bay, 

 Hong Kong

192,938 Commercial /

 Residential

Long-term lease

11-15A Lin Fa Kung Street East, Tai Hang, 

 Hong Kong

21,600 Commercial Long-term lease

G/F, Kam Fung Commercial Building,

 Nos. 2–4 Tin Lok Lane, Wanchai,

 Hong Kong

1,334 Commercial Long-term lease

17-19 Hing Wan Street, Wanchai,

 Hong Kong

11,853 Residential Long-term lease

34 Tang Lung Street, Causeway Bay,

 Hong Kong

3,748 Commercial /

 Residential

Long-term lease
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APPENDIX II — FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The following is a summary of the consolidated results and of the assets and liabilities of Soundwill Holdings 

Limited and its subsidiaries for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial 

statements and restated upon the adoption of the new and revised HKFRS as appropriate. This summary does 

not form part of the audited financial statements.

The results for the year ended 31 December 2003 have not been adjusted for the adoption of new HKFRS 

issued by the HKICPA that are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Turnover 464,673 197,464 162,631 134,378 124,603

Profit before income tax 1,270,108 499,150 656,463 39,045 61,977

Income tax expense (207,170) (76,045) (107,831) (13,109) 510

Profit for the year 1,062,938 423,105 548,632 25,936 62,487

Profit attributable

 to the equity holders

 of the Company 1,063,285 422,474 547,423 26,803 61,806

Minority interests (347) 631 1,209 (867) 681

1,062,938 423,105 548,632 25,936 62,487

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Non-current assets 5,512,874 4,361,544 3,742,722 3,083,494 2,280,748

Net current assets/(liabilities) 262,051 (789,152) (104,712) (70,061) (344,878)

Non-current liabilities (2,097,496) (969,850) (1,460,120) (1,571,179) (1,003,782)

Minority interests (22,052) (22,249) (17,609) (10,680) (10,577)

Equity attributable to the equity 

holders of the Company 3,655,377 2,580,293 2,160,281 1,431,574 921,511
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Soundwill Holdings Limited (‘‘the Company’’) 

will be held at 3 :30 p.m., on Friday, 23 May 2008 at Units 02-03, 10th Floor, Soundwill Plaza, 38 Russell 

Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong for the following purposes:

1. To receive and consider the audited financial statements and the reports of the directors and 

auditors for the year ended 31 December 2007;

2. To declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2007;

3. To elect directors and to authorise the board of directors of the Company to fix the remuneration of 
the directors;

4. To re-appoint auditors and to authorise the board of directors of the Company to fix their 

remuneration; and

5. As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass the following ordinary resolutions, with or 

without modifications:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

A. “THAT:

(a) subject to paragraph (b) of this Resolution, the exercise by the directors of the Company 

during the Relevant Period (as hereinafter defined) of all powers of the Company 

to repurchase shares of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company (‘‘Shares’’) on 

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (‘‘the Stock Exchange’’) or on any other 

stock exchange on which the shares of the Company may be listed and recognised 

by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong and the Stock Exchange for 

this purpose, subject to and in accordance with all applicable laws and the requirements 

of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange or of any 

other stock exchange as amended from time to time, be and is hereby generally and 

unconditionally approved;

(b) the aggregate number of Shares to be repurchased by the Company pursuant to 

the approval in paragraph (a) of this Resolution shall not exceed 10 per cent. of the 

number　of Shares in issue at the date of passing of this Resolution, and the said 

approval shall be limited accordingly; and
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

(c) for the purposes of this Resolution,

‘‘Relevant Period’’ means the period from the passing of this Resolution until whichever 
is the earlier of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company; or

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting 

of the Company is required by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda or the 

Company’s Bye-laws to be held; or

(iii) the date on which the authority set out in this Resolution is revoked or varied by 

an ordinary resolution of the shareholders in general meeting.”

B. “THAT:

(a) subject to paragraph (c) of this Resolution, the exercise by the directors of the Company 

during the Relevant Period (as hereinafter defined) of all powers of the Company to allot, 

issue and deal with additional shares of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company 

(‘‘Shares’’) and to make or grant offers, agreements and options (including warrants, 

bonds, debentures, notes and other securities which carry rights to subscribe for or 

are convertible into Shares) which would or might require the exercise of such power be 

and is hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

(b) the approval in paragraph (a) of this Resolution shall authorise the directors of the 

Company during the Relevant Period (as hereinafter defined) to make and grant offers, 

agreements and options (including warrants, bonds, debentures, notes and other 

securities which carry rights to subscribe for or are convertible into Shares) which would 

or might require the exercise of such power after the end of the Relevant Period;

(c) the aggregate number of Shares allotted or agreed conditionally or unconditionally 

to be allotted or issued or dealt with (whether pursuant to an option or otherwise) 

by the directors of the Company pursuant to the approval in paragraph (a) of this 

Resolution, otherwise than pursuant to (i) a Rights Issue (as hereinafter defined); or (ii) 

an issue of Shares under any option scheme or similar arrangement for the time being 

adopted for the grant or issue to the grantees as specified in such scheme or similar 

arrangement of Shares or rights to acquire Shares; or (iii) an issue of Shares upon the 

exercise of subscription or conversion rights under the terms of any existing warrants, 

bonds, debentures, notes and other securities which carry rights to subscribe for or are 

convertible into Shares; or (iv) an issue of Shares as scrip dividends pursuant to the Bye-

laws of the Company from time to time, shall not exceed 20 per cent. of the number of 

Shares in issue at the date of passing of this Resolution, and the said approval shall be 

limited accordingly; and
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

(d) for the purpose of this Resolution,

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this Resolution until 

whichever is the earlier of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company; or

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual general 

meeting of the Company is required by the Companies Act 1981 of 

Bermuda or the Company’s Bye-laws to be held; or

(iii) the date on which the authority set out in this Resolution is revoked or 

varied by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders in general meeting; 

and

‘‘Rights Issue’’ means an offer of Shares or issue of option, warrants 

or other securities giving the right to subscribe for Shares, open for a 

period fixed by the directors of the Company to holders of Shares whose 

names appear on the register of members of the Company (and, where 

appropriate, to holders of other securities of the Company entitled to 

the offer) on a fixed record date in proportion to their then holdings 

of such Shares (or, where appropriate, such other securities) (subject to 

such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors of the Company 

may deem necessary or expedient in relation to fractional entitlements or 

having regard to any restrictions or obligations under the laws of, or the 

requirements of any recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in, 

any territory applicable to the Company).”

C. “THAT conditional upon the passing of Ordinary Resolutions Nos. 5A and 5B set out in the 

notice convening this meeting, the general mandate granted to the directors of the Company to 

exercise the powers of the Company to allot, issue and deal with additional shares of HK$0.10 

each in the capital of the Company (‘‘Shares’’) pursuant to Resolution No. 5B set out in the 

notice convening this meeting be and is hereby extended by the addition thereto of an amount 

representing the aggregate number of Shares repurchased by the Company under the authority 

granted pursuant to Resolution No. 5A set out in the notice convening this meeting, provided 

that such extended amount shall not exceed 10 per cent. of the number of Shares in issue at 

the date of passing of this Resolution”.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

D.  “THAT conditional on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited granting the listing of and 

permission to deal in the shares of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) to 

be issued pursuant to the exercise of any options (the “Options”) which may be granted under 

the Refreshed Scheme Mandate Limited (as hereinafter defined) of the existing share option 

scheme of the Company adopted on 22 July 2002 (the “Scheme”) or under any other share 

option schemes of the Company, the directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised, at 

their absolute discretion, to grant Options and to allot and issue Shares pursuant to the exercise 

of any Options up to 10 per cent. of the number of Shares in issue at the date of this Resolution 

provided that Options previously granted under the Scheme (including those outstanding, 

cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with the Scheme) shall not be counted for the 

purpose of calculating the 10 per cent. limit (the “Refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit”).”

By Order of the Board 

Kwan Chai Ming 

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 29 April 2008

Head Office and Principal Place of Business:

21st Floor, Soundwill Plaza

38 Russell Street 

Causeway Bay 

Hong Kong

Notes:

1. Any member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend 
and to vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2. To be valid, a form of proxy, together with any power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which 
it is signed or a certified copy thereof, must be lodged with the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at 
21st Floor, Soundwill Plaza, 38 Russell Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before the time 
appointed for holding of the meeting or any adjourned meeting.

3. The Register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 19 May 2008 to Friday, 23 May 2008 
(both days inclusive) for the purpose of determination of entitlement to final dividend, during which no transfer 
of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all transfer of shares accompanied by the 
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong 
Kong, Tr i cor  Standard Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong by not 
later than 4:00 p.m. on Friday, 16 May 2008.
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